# THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

# VICTIM-OFFENDER GROUPS

by

Sandy Prokopiw

# A THESIS

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SOCIAL WORK

# FACULTY OF SOCIAL WORK

CALGARY, ALBERTA

MAY, 1994

<sup>©</sup> Sandy Prokopiw 1994



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

THE AUTHOR HAS GRANTED AN IRREVOCABLE NON-EXCLUSIVE LICENCE ALLOWING THE NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA TO REPRODUCE, LOAN, DISTRIBUTE OR SELL COPIES OF HIS/HER THESIS BY ANY MEANS AND IN ANY FORM OR FORMAT, MAKING THIS THESIS AVAILABLE TO INTERESTED PERSONS. L'AUTEUR A ACCORDE UNE LICENCE IRREVOCABLE ET NON EXCLUSIVE PERMETTANT A LA BIBLIOTHEQUE NATIONALE DU CANADA DE REPRODUIRE, PRETER, DISTRIBUER OU VENDRE DES COPIES DE SA THESE DE QUELQUE MANIERE ET SOUS QUELQUE FORME QUE CE SOIT POUR METTRE DES EXEMPLAIRES DE CETTE THESE A LA DISPOSITION DES PERSONNE INTERESSEES.

THE AUTHOR RETAINS OWNERSHIP OF THE COPYRIGHT IN HIS/HER THESIS. NEITHER THE THESIS NOR SUBSTANTIAL EXTRACTS FROM IT MAY BE PRINTED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED WITHOUT HIS/HER PERMISSION.

**Janad**ä

L'AUTEUR CONSERVE LA PROPRIETE DU DROIT D'AUTEUR QUI PROTÈGE SA THESE. NI LA THESE NI DES EXTRAITS SUBSTANTIELS DE CELLE-CI NE DOIVENT ETRE IMPRIMES OU AUTREMENT REPRODUITS SANS SON AUTORISATION.

ISBN 0-315-99461-4

Name

# ROKOPIN

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

**Subject Categories** 

# THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

### **COMMUNICATIONS AND THE ARTS**

OCA

Architecture	0729
Art History	0377
Cinema	0900
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	
Information Science	0723
Journalism	
Library Science	0399
Mass Communications	
Music	
Speech Communication	0459
Theater	0465

#### EDUCATION

EDUCATION	
General	0515
Administration	0514
Adult and Continuing	0514
Additional Commoning	
Agricultural	051/
Aň	0273
Bilingual and Multicultural	0282
Bilingual and Multicultural Business	0288
Community College	
Community College	
Curriculum and Instruction	0/2/
Early Childhood	0518
Elementary	0524
Finance	0277
Finance	
Guidance and Counseling	0515
Health	0680
Higher	0745
History of	0520
History of Home Economics	
Home Economics	02/8
Industrial	0521
Language and Literature	0279
Mathematics	0280
Multernulics	
Music	
Philosophy of	0998
Physical	0523

# Psychology ..... 0527 0714 Sciences ..... Sciences 0/14 Secondary 0533 Social Sciences 0534 Sociology of 0340 Special 0529 Teacher Training 0530 Technology 0710 Tests and Measurements 0288 Vocational 0747

JORK SUBJECT TERM

# LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND LINGUISTICS

679
289
290
291
401
294
295
297
298
316
591
305
352
355
593
311
312
315
313
314

# THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

# BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES Agriculture

Agriculture	
Ğeneral	0473
Agronomy Animal Culture and	0285
Animal Culture and	
Nutrition	0475
Nutrition Animal Pathology Food Science and	0476
Food Science and	
Technology Forestry and Wildlife Plant Culture	0359
Forestry and Wildlife	0478
Plant Culture	0470
Plant Pathology	0.480
Plant Physiology	0017
Panas Management	0777
Kange Managemenr	
Plant Pathology Plant Physiology Range Management	0/40
BIOIOOV	
General	0306
Anatomy	0287
Anatomy Biostatistics	0308
Botany	0309
Cell Ecology	0379
Ecology	0329
Entomology	0353
Genetics	0369
Limnology Microbiology Molecular	0793
Microbiology	0410
Molecular	0307
Neuroscience	0317
Oceanography	0416
Oceanography Physiology	0412
Radiation	0433
Veterinary Science	0770
Veterindry Science	0//0
Zoology	047 Z
Biophysics	0707
Géneral	
Medical	0760
EARTH SCIENCES	
Biogeochemistry	0425
Geochemistry	0996

Geodesy Geology Geophysics Hydrology Paleobotany Paleocology Paleontology Paleozology Paleozology Paleozology Physical Geography Physical Oceanography	03/3 0388 0411 0345
<b>HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTA</b>	L
SCIENCES	
Environmental Sciences	0768
Health Sciences General Audiology Chemotherapy Dentistry Education Hospital Management Human Development Immunology Mental Health Nursing Nutrition Obstetrics and Gynecology Occupational Health and Therapy Optitualmology Pathology Pharmacology Pharmacy Physical Therapy Public Health Radiology Pharmacy Physical Therapy Public Health Radiology Recreation	0300 0992 0567 0350 0769 0769 0769 0769 0769 0564 0384 0364 0354 0354 0354 0351 0351 0419 0572 0382

# PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND THEOLOGY

D

SUBJECT CODE

Philosophy04 Religion	
Keigion General	19 20 22
SOCIAL SCIENCES	
American Studies03	23
Anthropology Archaeology	24
Cultural 03	24
Physical 03	27
Cultural	
General03	10
Accounting	72
Banking07 Management04	70
Management04	54
Marketing	38
Economics	50
General 05	<u>1</u>
General	กัร่
Commerce-Business	<u>.</u>
Finance	<b>0</b> 8
History	29
Labor	
Theory05	11
Folklore	58
Geography03 Gerontology03	50
History	
General	78

Modern       0582         Black       0328         African       0331         Asia, Australia and Oceania       0334         European       0335         Latin American       0336         Middle Eastern       0333         United States       0337         History of Science       0585         Law       0398         Political Science       0585         Ceneral       0615         International Law and Relations       0616         Public Administration       0617         Recreation       0814         Social Work       0452         Sociology       0626         General       0627         Demography       0938         Ethnic and Racial Studies       0631         Individual and Family       0422         Studies       0628         Industrial and Labor       0429         Public and Social Welfare       0630         Social Structure and       0229         Public and Social Welfare       0630         Social Structure and       02400         Development       0700         Theory and Methods       0344	Ancient Medieval	0581
African		
Canadian	African	0331
European	Asia, Australia and Oceania	0332
Latin American	European	0335
United States	Latin American	0336
History of Science	United States	0337
Political Science General	History of Science	0585
Relations		
Relations	General	0615
General	Relations	0616
General	Public Administration	0617
General	Social Work	0814
Individual and Family Studies		
Individual and Family Studies	Criminology and Penology	0626
Individual and Family Studies	Demography	0938
Social Structure and	Individual and Family	0631
Social Structure and	Studies	0628
Social Structure and	Industrial and Labor Relations	0629
Social Structure and	Public and Social Welfare	0630
Theory and Methods	Social Structure and	
Transportation0709 Urban and Regional Planning0999 Women's Studies0453	_ Theory and Methods	0344
Women's Studies	Transportation	0709
	Women's Studies	ŏ453

Speech Pathology	0460
Toxicology	0383
Home Economics	0386

## **PHYSICAL SCIENCES**

**Pure Sciences** 

Pure Sciences	
Chemistry	
General Agricultural Analytical	0485
Aaricultural	0749
Apolytical	0486
Rischamieter	0,400
Biochemistry	0407
Inorganic	0488
Nuclear	0/38
Organic Pharmaceutical	0490
Pharmaceutical	0491
Physical	0494
Polymer	0495
Radiation	0754
Mathematics	0405
Physics	
General	0605
Acoustics	
Action and	
Astronomy and	0404
Astrophysics Atmospheric Science	
Atmospheric Science	
Atomic	0/48
Atomic Electronics and Electricity	0607
Elementary Particles and	
High Energy Fluid and Plasma	0798
Fluid and Plasma	0759
Molecular	0609
Nuclear	0610
Optics	0752
Radiation	0754
Salid State	0/11
Solid State	
Statistics	
Applied Sciences	
Applied Mechanics	0346
Applied Sciences Applied Mechanics Computer Science	10084
composer calence minimum	

Engineering	
Engineering General0	537
Aerospace0	538
Agricultural0	539
Automotive0	540
Biomedical0	541
Chemical0	542
Civil 0	543
Civil0 Electronics and Electrical0	544
Heat and Thermodynamics 0	348
Hydraulic0	545
Industrial0	546
Marine0	
Materials Science0	794
Mechanical0	548
Metallurgy0	743
Mining	551
Nuclear0	552
Packaging0	549
Petroleum0	765
Petroleum0 Sanitary and Municipal0	554
System Science	790
Geotechnology0	428
Operations Research0	796
Geotechnology	795
Textile Technology 0	994

# PSYCHOLOGY

General	
Behavioral	0384
Clinical	
Developmențal	
Experimental	
Industrial	
Personality	0625
Physiological Psychobiology	
Psýchobiology	
Psychometrics	
Social	
•	-

Dissertation Abstracts International est organisé en catégories de sujets. Veuillez s.v.p. choisir le sujet qui décrit le mieux votre thèse et inscrivez le code numérique approprié dans l'espace réservé ci-dessous.

SUJET



# Catégories par sujets

# **HUMANITÉS ET SCIENCES SOCIALES**

<b>CO</b>	MM	UNICATIONS	ET LES	ARTS

Architecture	0729
Beaux-arts	0357
Bibliothéconomie	0399
Cinéma	0900
Communication verbale	0459
Communications	
Danse	0378
Histoire de l'art	0377
Journalisme	0391
Musique	0413
Musique Sciences de l'information	0723
Théâtre	0465

# ÉDUCATION

LOOCHION	
Généralités	515
Administration	0514
Art	0273
Collèges communautaires	0275
Commerce	0288
Commerce	00000
Économie domestique	02/0
Éducation permanente	0210
Éducation préscolaire	0218
Éducation sanitaire	0680
Enseignement agricole	0517
Enseignement bilingue et multiculturel	
multiculture	0282
Enseignement industriel	0521
Liseignement indosiner	0521
Enseignement primaire.	0524
Enseignement professionnel	0/4/
Enseignement religioux	0527
Enseignement secondaire	0533
Enseignement spécial	0529
Enseignement supérieur	0745
Évaluation	0288
Finances	0277
Finances	0520
Formation des enseignants	0530
Histoire de l'éducation	
Langues et littérature	02/9

# 

## LANGUE, LITTÉRATURE ET LINGUISTIQUE

Langues	
Généralités0	679
Anciennes0	289
Linguistique 0	290
Modernes0	291
Littérature	
Généralités0	401
Generalites	301
Anciennes0	274
Comparée0	293
Mediévale0	297
Moderne0	298
Africaine0	316
Américaine0	591
Anglaise0	593
Asiatique0	305
Canadienne (Anglaise)	352
Canadienne (Française)0	355
Germanique	211
Germanique	210
Latino-américaine0	
Moyen-orientale0	313
Romane	313
Slave et est-européenne0	314
•	

PHILOSOPHIE, RELIGION ET
THEOLOGIE Philosophie0422
Religion Généralités0318
Classif 0210
Etudes bibliques0321
Histoire des religions
Etudes bibliques
SCIENCES SOCIALES
Anthropologie Archéologie
Culturelle 0326
Filysique
Droit
Économie Généralités 0.501
Généralités
Économie agricole
Finances0508
Histoire
Théorie
Études américaines
Études canadiennes
Folklore
Géographie
Gérontologie
Généralités
Banques
Banques 0770 Comptabilité 0272 Marketing 0338
Marketing0338 Histoire
riisioire

Histoire générale ......0578

	0570
Ancienne	.05/9
Médiévale	0581
Moderne	.0582
Histoire des noirs Africaine Çanadienne États-Unis	0328
Africaine	0331
Canadianaa	0001
	0334
Etats-Unis	.0337
Moven-orientale	0.3.3.3
Latino-américaine	.0336
Latino-américaine Asie, Australie et Océanie	0332
Histoire des sciences	0585
Loising	0814
Loisirs Planification urbaine et	,0014
Planification urbaine er	0000
regionale	.0999
régionale Science politique	
Généralités Administration publique	.0615
Administration publique	.0617
Droit at relations	
internationales	0616
Castala ata	
Généralités Aide et bien-àtre social	0424
Atala at him iter as atal	0020
Alde er plen arre social	.0030
Criminologie et	
établissements 🖌	
pénitentiaires	.0627
pénitentiaires Démographie Études de l' individu et	.0938
Études de l'individu et	
, de la famille	0628
Études des relations	.0020
ciodes des reidiloris	•
interethniques et	A / A 1
des relations raciales	.0631
Structure et développement	
social Théorie et méthodes	.0700
Théorie et méthodes	.0344
Travail et relations	
industrielles	0629
Transports	0700
Transports	0/07
Travail social	.0452

# SCIENCES ET INGÉNIERIE

# **SCIENCES B**

Agricu	lture
ິດຄ	néralité

Generalites	.04/3
Agronomie. Alimentation et technologie	0285
Alimentation et technologie	
alimentaire	0359
Çulture	0479
	0475
Élevage et alimentation	.04/3
Exploitation des peturages	.0///
Pathologie animale	.04/6
Pathologie végétale	.0480
Physiologie végétale	0817
Subjective of foune	0478
To also also also have a	0714
Exploitation des péturages Pathologie animale Pathologie végétale Physiologie végétale Sylviculture et faune Technologie du bois	. 0/ 40
DIOIOGIE	
Généralités	,0306
Anatomie	.0287
Biologie (Statistiques)	0308
Biologio moléculaire	0307
Diologie molecolorie	0200
Anatomie Biologie (Statistiques) Biologie moléculaire Botanique	0307
Écologie	.0329
Entomologie	.0353
Génétique	.0369
Limnologie	0793
Microbiologie	0410
Mauralagia	0217
Neurologie	.0312
Océanographie	.0410
Physiologie	.0433
Radiation	.0821
Physiologie Radiation Science vélérinaire	.0778
Zoologie	.0472
Biophysique	
Biophysique Généralités	0794
Generalites	.0700
Medicale	.0/60
SCIENCES DE LA TERRE	
Biogéochimie	.0425
Géochimie	.0996
Géodésie	.0370
Géographie physique	0368
Geographile buysidoe	.0000

BIOLOGIQUES		Géologie Géophysiqu Hydrologie
مكنا	0473	Geophysiqu

SCIENCES DE LA SANTÉ ET DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT	
Paléobotanique Paléocologie Paléontologie Paléozoologie Palynologie	.0428 .0418 .0985
Minéralogie Océanographie physique Paléobotanique	.0411 .0415
Géologie Géophysique Hydrologie	.0372 .0373 .0388

E LITTINVITIENLEITI	
Économie domestique 0	386
Économie domestique03 Sciences de l'environnement03	740
Sciences de l'environnement	00
Sciences de la santé	
Généralités03	566
Administration des hinitaux 0	769
Alimentation of autrition	570
Généralités	220
Audiologie	500
Chimiothérapie0	<b>792</b>
Dentisterie0	567
Développement humain0	758
Developpentein nonidin	250
Enseignement0	320
Immunologie0	982
Immunologie0 Loisirs0 Médecine du travail et	575
Médecine du travail et	
Médecine et chirurgie Médecine et chirurgie Obstétrique et gynécologie Ophtalmologie Orthophonie	251
	504
Médecine et chirurgie	564
Obstétrique et aynécologie 03	380
Ophtalmologie 0	381
Orthophonic	120
	271
Pharmacie0	572
Pharmacologie0 Physiothérapie0	419
Physiothéronia 0	382
Padiologio	571
Radiologie0 Santé mentale0	3/4
Sante mentale0	34/
Santé publique0 Soins infirmiers0	573
Soins infirmiers0	E 2 O
	207
Toxicologie 0	383
Toxicologie0	383

# SCIENCES PHYSIQUES

Sciences Pures
Chimie
Genéralités
Biochimie 487
Chimie agricole0749
Chimie analytique0486 Chimie minérale0488
Chimie minérale0488
Chimie nucléaire0738
Chimie organique0490
Chimie pharmaceutique0491
Physique0494
PolymCres 0495
PolymCres
Mathématiques
Physical Phy
Physique 0405
Généralités
Acoustique0986 Astronomie et
Astronomie et
astrophysique
Electronique et électricité 060/
Fluides et plasma0759
Météorologie0608
Météorologie
Particules (Physique
Physique atomique0748
Physique atomique
Physique moléculaire
Physique nuclégire
Radiation 0756
Statistiques 0463
Sciences Appliqués Et Technologie
Technologie
Informatique0984
Ingóniorio

Ingénierie Générqlités .....

¢

Travail er relations industrielles Transports Travail social	0629 0709 .0452
Biomédicale	0541
modynamique	0348
Conditionnement (Emballage) Génie cárospatial Génie chimique Génie civil Ógénie dectronique et álactrique	0549
Génie aérospatial	0538
Génie chimique	.0542
Génie civil	.0543
Génie électronique et	
électrique Génie industriel	.0544
Génie industriel	.0546
Génie mécanique	0548
Génie nucléaire Ingénierie des systämes Mécanique navale	.0552
Ingénierie des systämes	.0790
Mécanique navale	.0547
weraliurgie	.0/43
Science des motérious	1791
Technique du pétrole	.0765
Technique du pétrole Technique minière Techniques sanitaires et	.0551
lechniques sanitaires et	0000
_ municipales	.0554
lechnologie hydraulique	.0545
Mecanique appliquee	.0340
Techniques sanitaires et municipales	.0428
Matières plastiques	0705
(Technologie) Recherche opérationnelle Textiles et tissus (Technologie)	0793
Tautilas at tinun (Tachaolagia)	0704
rexines el lissos (recinologie)	.0/94
PSYCHOLOGIE	
Généralités	0621
Porconnalitá	0425

Généralités	0621
Personnalité	0625
Psychobiologie	0349
Psychologie clinique	.0622
Psychologie du comportement	0384
Psychologie du développement	
Psychologie expérimentale	0623
Psychologie industrielle	.0624
Psychologie physiologique	0989
Psychologie sociale	.0451
Psýchologie physiologique Psýchologie sociale Psýchomětrie	.0632
•	
	$\textcircled{\blue}{\blue}$

# THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

# FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled "Victim-Offender Groups" submitted by Sandy Prokopiw in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Masters of Social Work.

Supervisor, Dr. H.C. (Joe) Hudson, Faculty of Social Work

Dr. Michael A. Rothery, Faculty of Social Work

Dr. A. (Gus) Brannigan, Department of Sociology

# ABSTRACT

Victims of crime and offenders need opportunities to interact, help victims deal with the victimization and enable offenders to accept responsibility. The victim-offender groups established at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre aimed at achieving these objectives.

Two program sequences were run, each consisting of five 2-3 hour sessions. Session content included information on the youth justice system and the Young Offender Centre as well as on victim services; one session was devoted to victim and offender dialogue.

Outcome measures show that victims and offenders found the information useful, however offenders in the experimental groups did not indicate more responsibility for their actions than offenders in the control groups. It is recommended that the victimoffender program continue with the addition of more joint sessions and more focused content which deals more directly with themes of individual responsibility for actions.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere thanks to the following people:

- The Department of Justice, Young Offender Branch, particularly Karen Ferguson, Director of Calgary Young Offender Centre, Gerry Wright, Program Director, Edmonton Young Offender Centre, and Renee Frank, Deputy Director of Operations, Edmonton Young Offender Centre, and youth workers at Edmonton Young Offender Centre;
- The Edmonton Police Service, particularly the Victim Services Unit and Youth Unit;
- My Supervisor, Joe Hudson, for his invaluable expertise and encouragement;
- The victims and young people who participated so readily in the groups and shared their experiences; and finally,
- My parents and my husband Michael for their constant encouragement and support.

iv

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

•

APPROVAL PAGE						
ABSTRACT iii						
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv						
TABLE OF CONTENTS						
LIST OF TABLES vii						
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 1						
CHAPTER 2: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND						
LITERATURE REVIEW						
THEORIES OF DELINQUENCY 5						
NEEDS OF VICTIMS OF BREAK AND ENTER						
TYPES OF VICTIM-OFFENDER PROGRAMS 12						
CHAPTER 3: STEPS IN PROGRAM DESIGN						
LENGTH AND CONTENT OF SESSIONS 14						
DESIGN						
SETTING						
TYPE OF GROUP 17						
ROLE OF THE LEADER						
SIZE OF GROUPS						
VICTIMS						
OFFENDERS						
PROBLEMS IDENTIFIED BY DATA SOURCES						
Hostile/Emotionally Upset Victims						
Keeping Joint Sessions Evenly Focused						
Emotionally Upset Offenders						
CHAPTER 4: RESEARCH DESIGN 24						
RESEARCH QUESTIONS    25      HYPOTHESES    25						
SAMPLE SIZE						
MEASUREMENT						
QUALITATIVE MEASURES						
Feedback Questionnaires						
Process Recordings						
QUANTITATIVE MEASURE						
Ball's Neutralization Scale						
ETHICAL ISSUES 29						
CHAPTER 5: PROCESS RECORDINGS						
PROGRAM SEQUENCE #1						
Victim's Group - Session $#1$						
seeme storp seemen "* + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +						

# LIST OF TABLES

.

Table 1 - Age of Offenders	53
Table 2 - Number of Convictions by Charge	54
Table 3 - Convictions for Break and Enter	
Table 4 - Racial Origin	55
Table 5 - Victim Gender	56
Table 6 - Victim Age	56
Table 7 - "My experience with the program was helpful."	58
Table 8 - "The sessions challenged impressions I had about victims in general."	58
Table 9 - "The sessions provided me with a better understanding	
of victims and how they experience crime."	59
Table 10 - "Participation in the program has made me want to change my	
lifestyle upon release."	59
Table 11 - "Which if any, of your opinions were changed or remained	
the same as a result of the program."	60
	61
Table 13 - "How would you recommend that the program be improved?"	61
Table 14 - "My experience with the group sessions was helpful."	
Table 15 - "The sessions challenged impressions and stereotypes I held	
	64
Table 16 - "The sessions have given me a better understanding about	
offenders and their motivation for committing offences."	64
Table 17 - "Information obtained as a result of the program enabled me	
to better deal with some of the feelings I had about	
being victimized."	65
Table 18 - "I found the general information provided on young offenders	
and the criminal justice system helpful."	65
Table 19 - "I found it helpful to talk about the experience of having had	
my home broken into with victims of a similar offence."	66
Table 20 - "I found that during the meeting, the offenders were honest."	
Table 21 - "I am glad to have had the opportunity to confront the offenders	
with the results of their actions"	67
Table 22 - "I found that the offenders were very much like any ordinary youth."	
Table 23 - "I have found it interesting to listen to the offenders'	
side of the story."	68
Table 24 - "Which, if any of your opinions where changed or remained	
the same as a result of your meeting with the offenders?"	69
Table 25 - "How would you describe the overall experience?"	69
Table 26 - "How would you recommend that the groups be improved?"	
	72

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

This project has two components. First, an action component, the design and implementation of a victim-offender program for young offenders. The aims of the program are to provide an opportunity for victims and young offenders to meet and receive general information about the youth justice system and share their thoughts and feelings about experiences as offenders and victims. The second project component involves designing and conducting evaluation research on the victim-offender program. This entails pre- and post-tests for the offenders as well as post measures on victims and offenders about their views of the program.

Chapter 2 introduces the theoretical background of the study, and reviews pertinent literature concerning key elements of the program, including crime victims and their needs, victim-offender programs, and group work. The theoretical framework for this study is based on Gresham Sykes and David Matza's Neutralization Theory (1957), developed to explain how delinquents justify their law violations. Sykes and Matza call justifications of deviant behaviour "Techniques of Neutralization," which once learned, are instrumental in the juvenile becoming delinquent. Five major techniques are identified: Denial of responsibility, denial of injury, denial of the victim, condemnation of the condemners, and appeal to higher loyalties. Sykes and Matza deal specifically with the notion of victim denial for property offences.

Also reviewed in Chapter 2 is literature on the needs of victims of property offences. This literature shows that victims may feel left out of, or require additional information about, the criminal justice process. It also suggests that victims may benefit from meeting offenders. The basis for this is that such meetings provide an opportunity

1

for victims to challenge stereotypes they have of offenders, and deal with feelings of hurt and anger that have arisen as a result of the property crime.

Victim-offender programs operate throughout the United Kingdom, United States, and Canada, involving victims and offenders prior to charges being laid for an offence, prior to sentencing, and as part of a court disposition, usually probation. There are essentially two types of victim-offender programs; those where victims meet with their own offenders individually or in groups, and those where non-related victims and offenders meet in groups. The former are known as Victim-Offender Reconciliation Programs (VORP), while the latter are often referred to as Face-to-Face or Victims and Offenders in Conciliation (VOIC).

Because this project includes groups of offenders in a secure custody setting, pertinent literature on groups in correctional settings is discussed. Groups vary in length from a single session to open-ended groups lasting 6 months or more, and victim-offender groups fall into the area of short-term groups.

Steps involved in designing the victim-offender program are outlined in Chapter 3. In this program design work, literature on existing programs was reviewed and discussions held with individuals involved in victim and offender programming. Prior to implementation, final approval for the victim-offender program was obtained from the Department of Justice, Correctional Services Division, Young Offender Branch, and the Edmonton Police Service.

Chapter 4 moves to a discussion of the method used to collect and analyze data on the victim-offender groups. An experimental design was used, with random assignment to experimental and control groups of offenders, with pre- and post-tests administered to the offenders. Richard Ball's Neutralization Scale (1973) was used. This scale was constructed by Ball to test Sykes and Matza's theory that delinquents use the techniques of neutralization. Designed as an operational measure of neutralization, the scale amounts to 40 questions based on specific offence situations. Questionnaires were also administered to victims and offenders following the last session of the group. The purpose of the questionnaire was to determine what victims and offenders liked or disliked about the group. Their comments show that the groups were informative, and indicate ways in which they could be improved.

Each program sequence covered five 2-3 hour sessions. Two program sequences were run, one in August, 1992, the other in October, 1992. Process recordings were completed for each program sequence, providing details on the number of participants, activities and themes discussed in the sessions, and a discussion of the interactions in each session. The process recordings for each program sequence are found in Chapter 5.

Chapter 6 presents the findings of the study. Demographic characteristics of the victim and offender participants are summarized. For victims, information is provided on age and gender. For offenders, information is provided on age, gender, ethnicity, and number of property-related offenses for which the young offender had been convicted. The results of the pre- and post-tests and questionnaire responses are summarized along with the significance of the pre- and post-test measures on Ball's Neutralization Scale. This measure was analyzed using a paired t-test for pre- and post-test measures, and analysis of co-variance to compare groups on the post-test.

Most generally, members of the victim-offender groups had positive responses to the post-test. The results of the pre- and post-test measures for offenders show no significant difference between the experimental and control groups. The theoretical and practical implications of the project are discussed in Chapter 7.

# **CHAPTER 2: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW**

This chapter provides the theoretical background of the project. Several delinquency theories are discussed and compared to Sykes and Matza's theory. Also included is a discussion of victim needs and how victim-offender groups are held to be of benefit. Types of victim-offender programs are then discussed.

# THEORIES OF DELINQUENCY

Mawby and Gill (1987) note that recent texts on criminology and deviance illustrate the extent to which criminology's origins are offender focused. The authors state that most post war theories virtually ignore the victim (Mawby & Gill, p. 22). The exception is the work of Sykes and Matza (1957), who, in their article, "Techniques of Neutralization" identify denial of the victim as one of five techniques that delinquents use to justify law violations. Agnew (1990) states that the differences between three general explanations of delinquency: strain theory, subcultural deviance theory, and rational choice theory, are important in terms of program and policy development. If delinquency is to be controlled, it is necessary to know the extent to which delinquent acts are committed in response to negative events, pressure or influence from others, or advantageous situations (Agnew, p. 245). Programs can then be designed that attempt to get the delinquent to act or respond differently in a given situation, such as thinking about the victim prior to committing the delinquent act.

Agnew relates the origins of specific delinquent acts or events to strain theory, subcultural deviance theory, and rational choice theory. Strain theory focuses on the frustration engendered in the young person because of the inability to achieve future goals, specifically the long-term goals of monetary or middle-class status by using legitimate channels. Cloward and Ohlin's (1960) theory of differential opportunity views lower-class boys as having a value commitment to success, which is measured in material terms (Gibbons & Krohn, 1991, p. 127). These boys do not necessarily want to become part of the middle-class, which means disrupting their current associations, but they so want higher status in terms of their current position (Gibbons & Krohn, p. 126). Another part of this theory addresses the differences in access to both legitimate and illigitimate opportunites for success (Gibbons & Krohn, p. 126).

Subcultural Deviance Theory in contrast, deals with internalization of values brought about through association with deviant others. Association with delinquents leads the adolescent to adopt delinquent values that in turn lead to delinquent behaviour. As an example, Miller (1958) argues that delinquent behaviour may not necessarily be a reaction to strain or rebellion against middle-class standards, but is the result of patterns of conduct acquired from the lower class culture itself (Tojanowitcz & Morash, p. 56).

The third type of theory, rational-choice theory, focuses on an individual's evaluations of the costs and benefits in a particular situation (Agnew, p. 274). In this case, "a suitably predisposed individual is likely to engage in crime to the extent that these benefits are seen to outweigh the costs" (Agnew, p. 274). In questionnaires administered to 1395 delinquents, Agnew classified the explanations delinquents offer for their offences, noting the number of responses relating to each theory type. Fourteen delinquent offences, including assault, a variety of property crimes, and drug-related offences were listed in the questionnaire. Participants were asked to choose from

responses relating to the commission of the particular delinquent acts, and responses were characterized according to the above three theoretical explanations. Agnew tested the assumptions that, if strain theory is correct, delinquents would list some negative event as leading up to the delinquent act; if subcultural deviance theory is correct, delinquents would mention pressure or influence from others and if the rational choice perspective is correct, delinquents would state that they committed the offence because it was advantageous (Agnew, p. 276).

Agnew found that 60% of the explanations for property crime fell into the category of advantageous situations while explanations were seldom retaliation or revenge, as was the case with violent acts (Agnew, p. 283). The significance of Agnew's study is that it provides support for rational choice theory with respect to delinquents committing property-related offences.

These theoretical explanations have been included to illustrate the differences between theories which attempt to explain delinquency as a function of membership in a group or part of a class structure and the situational explanation of delinquency. In designing and implementing a victim-offender program, it is appropriate to use a theory which is not just offender focused, but which also addresses the offender's view of the victim. In addition it is appropriate to consider the way the offender thinks about the victim and whether this influences the committing of a property crime.

The work of Sykes and Matza, "Techniques of Neutralization" addresses the offender's perception of the victim as a factor in the decision to commit a crime, suggesting that the victim as an abstract entity, particularly in the case of property crime,

where the victim is physically absent, helps the offender to neutralize behaviour (Sykes & Matza, p. 221). After participating in a victim-offender program, and meeting and hearing from victims, offenders may think about how their crimes have affected the victims.

Sykes and Matza argue that the moral values of delinquents are fundamentally similar to those of non-delinquents. According to Minor (1981)

The distinguishing feature is that delinquents are able to excuse or justify their delinquent behaviour in the light of particular circumstances. The techniques of neutralization described by Sykes and Matza are said to temporarily remove the inhibitions of conventional morality, thus enabling delinquent actions (Minor, p. 295).

In Sykes and Matza's view, the delinquent "represents not a radical opposition to law-

abiding society but something more like an apologetic failure, more sinned against than

sinning in his own eyes" (Sykes & Matza, p. 223). Sykes and Matza argue that

Much delinquency is based on what is essentially an unrecognized extension of defenses to crimes, in the form of justifications for deviance that are seen as valid by the delinquent but not by the legal system or society at large (Sykes & Matza, p. 222).

Sykes and Matza believe that the delinquent conforms, at least in part, to the

values held by the rest of society, but excuses or justifies delinquent acts using five major

techniques:

- 1. Denial of responsibility. Using this rationalization, the delinquent defines himself as lacking in responsibility for his actions, and extends this into forces beyond his control such as unloving parents (Sykes & Matza, p. 223).
- 2. Denial of injury. This technique deals with denying harm involved in the delinquent act. For example, car theft may be viewed by the delinquent as

"borrowing," or stealing from a business as theft from someone who can afford it.

3. Denial of the victim. Even if the delinquent is willing to accept responsibility, and admit that his actions caused injury or hurt, the existence of the victim may be denied or the victim perceived as someone deserving of hurt (Sykes & Matza, p. 225). When the victim is physically absent, unknown, or a vague abstraction, as is often the case in delinquent acts committed against property, the awareness of the victim's existence is weakened (Sykes & Matza, p. 225). The authors state

that

There is much evidence that juvenile delinquents often draw a sharp line between those who can be victimized and those who cannot. Certain social groups are not to be viewed as "fair game" in the performance of supposedly approved delinquent acts while others warrant a variety of attacks. In general, the potentiality for victimization would seem to be a function of the social distance between the juvenile delinquent and others and thus we find implicit maxims in the world of the delinquent such as "don't steal from friends," or "don't commit vandalism against the church of your own faith"...The fact that supposedly valued behaviour tends to be directed against disvalued social groups hints that the "wrongfulness" of such delinquent behaviour is more widely recognized by delinquents that the literature has indicated (Sykes & Matza, p. 221).

4. Condemnation of the condemners. The delinquent attacks the motivations of others who criticize his behaviour (such as police, teachers, or parents). For example police are harassing him, teachers show favouritism, and parents are not perfect, so who are they to criticize his actions.

5. Appeal to higher loyalties. By sacrificing the demands of the larger society for the demands of the smaller social groups to which the delinquent belongs, he neutralizes internal or external controls (Sykes & Matza, p. 225). Sykes and Matza note that:

The delinquent does not necessarily repudiate the imperatives of the dominant normative system despite a failure to follow them. Rather, the delinquent may see him or herself as caught up in a dilemma that must be resolved, unfortunately, at the cost of violating the law (Sykes & Matza, p. 225).

# NEEDS OF VICTIMS OF BREAK AND ENTER

Christie (1978) refers to conflicts between victims and offenders as a form of "property" which has been taken away by the justice system. Because offenders are not made available to meet with victims, "opportunity for participation in a personal confrontation of a very serious nature is lost" (Christie, p. 240). Groups of victims and offenders provide an opportunity for victims and offenders to recover such loses.

Lurigio and Resick (1990) show that victims of serious crimes suffer adverse effects as a result of the crime, including fear, anxiety, unpleasant thoughts and upset stomach. Such emotional consequences can be more disruptive than the loss of property or physical injury, which are commonly regarded as the most unsettling aspects of victimization (Lurigio & Resick, p. 50). Lurigio and Resick state that assault, burglary and robbery victims can develop a psychiatric disorder known as post-traumatic stress syndrome, which is defined by a persistent re-experiencing of a traumatic event through intrusive memories and dreams and by a variety of anxiety-related symptoms (Lurigio & Resick, p. 51).

A number of authors, Priestly, (1970), Mawby and Gill (1987), Walklate (1989), and Lurigio and Resick (1990) discuss the reactions and problems of victims of crime in detail. Lurigio and Resick point out that:

Reactions to crime and other deleterious experiences are often quite varied. Hence it is important to study individual differences in response to criminal victimization. Researchers should eschew the client uniformity myth when examining crime victims' distress and adjustment. Indeed, findings support that victims of crime and other traumatic episodes manifest varying levels of distress and symptoms. Variability in victim recovery can be a function of victim characteristics and predispositions, the nature of the incident, the victim's perceptions and interpretations of the occurrence and interpretation of events that transpire in the aftermath of the crime (Lurigio & Resick, p. 51).

Mawby and Gill (1987) discuss the needs of crime victims based on data from the

British Crime Survey, 1984. Practical, financial, and personal/emotional problems were cited by a large number of victims such as women, especially those divorced or separated, one-parent families, those living alone, elderly, and poor. These groups might be more in need of both support, and an opportunity to talk about how they have been affected by the crime (Mawby & Gill, p. 25).

In a study based on 322 interviews with victims of burglary between 1977 and 1979 in Britain, Maguire notes that victims were "angry, afraid, or emotionally upset" (Maguire, p. 126). Victims are described as being distrustful of strangers and struggling to recapture a lost sense of security.

Watson, Boucherat, and Davis (1989) state that victims would benefit from meeting offenders. Such a meeting would enable them to challenge stereotypes and overcome some of the hurt, anger, and fear arising from the offence (Watson, Boucherat, & Davis, p. 215). Launay and Murray (1989) state that some victims are hesitant to engage in a face-to-face meeting with the offenders who actually committed the crime in their home, but feel more comfortable confronting an offender who may have committed a similar type of offence against another person.

# **TYPES OF VICTIM-OFFENDER PROGRAMS**

With roots dating back to the late 1960s in both the United States and Canada, victim-offender mediation and reconciliation programs now exist in numerous jurisdictions. The value base for these programs was originally a religious one premised upon a biblical perspective that views crime as "a rupture or wound in the health of the community that needs to be healed" (Zehr, 1983, p. 340). The first priority is upon the relational aspects of crime; the attitudes, feelings and needs of both victim and offender must be taken seriously (Zehr, 1983, p. 341).

Victim-offender programs may be distinguished by their purpose and their place in the criminal justice process. Launay and Murray (1989), for example, divide victimoffender programs into two categories. First are those which bring victims together with their offenders, either individually or in groups, with a trained mediator. The purpose of these types of programs is for victims and offenders to share their feelings and concerns, and also to agree on some form of reparation, such as an apology, personal service, monetary compensation to the victim, and/or community service. These types of programs can operate prior to a charge being laid, prior to sentencing, or as a condition of a court order such as probation. These programs are commonly known as "victim-offender mediation programs" or victim and offender reconciliation programs (VORP).

The second type of program involves unrelated victims and offenders. The purpose of this type of program is twofold: First, to address and reduce the fear and anger of victims by giving them an opportunity to question, confront, and get to know offenders, and second, to challenge the offender's justifications for their criminal behaviour by confronting them with the human consequences of crime (Launay & Murray, 1989, pp. 114-115). These programs are conducted post sentencing with both adult and juvenile offenders in community and institutional settings.

This chapter has set the stage for the project, by providing a broader context in which the victim-offender programs take place. The theoretical groups mentioned illustrate the complexity of delinquent behavior, and it is acknowleged that while an offender may be justifying delinquent acts as theorized by Sykes and Matza, there may also be factors such as associations with negative peers, a strong desire for monetary gain, or background of delinquents that may come into play. Similarly, it is important to remember that victims of crime deal with victimization in different ways, and not all victims are appropriate for, or want to participate in groups with offenders.

In the context of restorative responses to crime, the victim-offender program is designed to include those affected by the crime of break and enter in a response to the crime. This means providing offenders and victims who agree to participate in such a program to understand the crime and its impact.

# **CHAPTER 3: STEPS IN PROGRAM DESIGN**

An initial task in designing a victim-offender program included reading in the areas of theories of delinquency, needs of crime victims, and restorative justice. These topics were discussed in the preceding chapter. Literature review was done on victim-offender programs and group work, and persons knowledgeable in the area of victim-offender contact were interviewed. A list of persons who have been involved in the design and implementation of victim-offender programs, and who were interviewed is found in Appendix 1.

From the interviews and literature review, information was obtained on participant selection, size and composition of groups, types of groups, as well as content and duration of each victim only and offender only and combined victim and offender sessions. Also obtained was information on problems to be anticipated in implementing the groups, including difficulties in obtaining victim participants, keeping joint sessions evenly focused, and dealing with hostile or emotionally upset participants. The use of this information is described in the following sections.

# LENGTH AND CONTENT OF SESSIONS

Program descriptions of victim-offender meetings held at Her Majesty's Youth Custody Centre in Rochester, United Kingdom; Headingly Correctional Institution, Winnipeg, Manitoba; Saskatoon Correctional Centre, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan; Devon Probation Service, Devon, United Kingdom; and Her Majesty's Penitentiary, St. John's Newfoundland; indicate that victim-offender groups operate over a period of 3-7 weeks and the programs run for 3-6 sessions. The individual sessions comprising these programs are from 1-4 hours in length. Discussions with persons involved in recruiting participants for the victim-offender program in Calgary revealed that difficulties were encountered in getting victims to make a time commitment (B. Cook, personal communication, August 12, 1991; K. Pate, personal communication, March 3, 1992). Therefore, there must be enough sessions to deal with pertinent subject matter, but not so many that participants lose interest, or refuse to commit to attending for the duration.

Davis (1991) and Rodrigues (1991) argue that prior to meeting offenders, victims must be prepared adequately in respect to the justice system in general, and for the type of offenders they will meet. Similarly, Pate (1992) and Gibson, (Personal communication, March 3, 1992) note that a number of victims with whom they have had contact in mediation sessions had questions regarding the youth justice system. Questions included types and length of sentences offenders typically receive for specific types of offences. Victims also wonder about the age of offenders, their education and their families.

Sessions where victims meet together as a group can provide participants with support through "installation of hope," by seeing that others have similar problems and are coping with them (Northen, p. 13). Victim feedback questionnaires show that victims appreciated the opportunity to meet other victims and share experiences.

Offenders also have questions about victims, such as how old they are, what kind of property was taken, and how victims reacted to the Break and Enter, and appreciate the opportunity to ask these questions of the leader without the victims present (Janine Miani, personal communication, June 5, 1991). The opportunity for offenders to express their fears about meeting victims is seen as an integral part of a victim-offender program (Pate, 1992, Gustafson, Personal Communication, March 3, 1992).

# DESIGN

The two sequences making up the program implemented at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre were run from August 10-28, 1992, and September 30-October 14, 1992. Each sequence consisted of five 2-3 hour sessions over a three week period; two victims only and offenders only sessions and one joint victim-offender session. The general content of the sessions was as follows:

Session	Victims	Offenders
1	<ul> <li>presentation on the Young Offenders Act</li> <li>discussion of their own break and enter, damage, items stolen, and how it has affected their lives</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>discussion of the offenders' records and property-related offences that they have been involved in</li> <li>discussion of what the offenders would like to tell/ask victims</li> </ul>
2	<ul> <li>orientation to the Edmonton Young Offender Centre</li> <li>discussion</li> <li>preparing to meet the offenders by discussing what they would like to tell/ask offenders</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>presentation on the impact of residential break and enter on victims from the perspective of a Victim's Services Unit representative, Edmonton Police Service</li> <li>discussion</li> </ul>
3	<ul> <li>3 - telling their own experiences as victims and offenders with all participants being given an opportunity to speak</li> <li>- responses, questions and discussions</li> </ul>	

# SETTING

The victims only sessions were held in the administration boardroom at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre. Offenders only sessions and the joint victim-offender session were held in the visitor's lounge at the Centre. Janine Miani, Caseworker at Calgary Young Offender Centre, noted that victims had expressed to her unease about being inside the Young Offender Centre. The informational component included an orientation to the Young Offender Centre and was aimed at easing some of the discomfort the victims might have felt.

# **TYPE OF GROUP**

Group work with young persons involved in the criminal justice system has been widely used in the past two decades. Groups allow for an exploration of attitudes, fears and behaviours in a non-threatening, supportive environment, while providing a forum for sharing of information (Klarreich, 1989). Group work is used extensively in Alberta by the Correctional Services Division in institutional programming for young offenders. These programs include Lifeskills, addiction treatment, and education/job preparation as well as Native Spirituality and anger management (Orientation to the Edmonton Young Offender Centre, 1989). The focus of victim-offender groups is on sharing information, attitudes and feelings with other offenders and with the victims.

Arnold (1974), Trotzer (1977), Finckenauer (1984), Minor and Elrod (1990), and Gibbons and Krohn (1991) favour the use of groups in correctional settings. Utilizing small group approaches with offenders reflects an effort to replicate the deviant group while attempting to change its focus in the direction of pro-social norms and behaviours (Martin, 1989, p. 151).

The length of treatment groups in correctional settings varies from a one day session of approximately six hours to ongoing over one year or more, depending on the length of sentence served and the purpose of the group. Short term groups have the advantage of limiting anxiety, but they also can limit the investment of participants and the resulting changes. Longer groups are held to be effective in changing behaviours but not necessarily underlying attitudes (Martin, 1989, p. 152).

Victim-offender groups can be categorized within the primary purposes of treatment groups outlined by Toseland and Rivas (1984). These are education, growth, remediation, and socialization. Toseland and Rivas maintain that, in practice, there are many variations that combine these purposes. Victim-offender groups are a combination of educational and growth groups.

The primary purpose of educational groups is to help members learn about themselves and their society by increasing member's information and skills (Toseland & Rivas, 1984, p. 19). These groups involve presentation of information and sharing of knowledge by experts, and often include opportunities for group discussion to foster learning (Toseland & Rivas, p. 20). "Members of educational groups are bonded together by a common interest in the material to be learned as well as common characteristics such as being adolescents" (Toseland & Rivas, p. 22). While the informational component of victim-offender groups is important, discussion of feelings and experiences by group members is equally important and therefore the purpose of the groups goes beyond being educational, into the area of personal growth.

The educational component of the victim-offender groups consists of the information sessions on the Edmonton Young Offender Centre and the youth justice system for victims, and the presentation about the impact of residential break and enter on victims by a representative from the Victim Services Unit for offenders. Where the growth component begins is with the sharing of experiences between victims and offenders in the joint session. Growth oriented groups provide an opportunity for members to become aware of, expand, and change their thoughts and feelings, and behaviour regarding themselves and others (Toseland & Rivas, p. 22). They focus on promoting socio-emotional health rather than remediation, through improved relationships with others, and provide a supportive atmosphere for individual members to gain insights, experiment with new behaviours and get feedback from others (Toseland & Rivas, p. 23). During the sessions for victims only, and offenders only, participants discussed the questions they were going to ask in the joint session, and the topics they were going to raise. Other participants gave feedback. In the joint session, victims and offenders addressed each other, with support from other group members.

# **ROLE OF THE LEADER**

The role of the leader in victim-offender groups is a combination of two roles, as the groups are a combination of educational and growth groups. Toseland and Rivas describe the role of a leader in an educational group as that of the teacher who provides structure for group discussion (Toseland & Rivas, p. 20). The leader in a growth group is a facilitator and role model (Toseland & Rivas, p. 20). The leader in victim-offender groups acted as an educator when presenting information on the Young Offender's Act, the Young Offender Centre, and Victim Assistance programs. The role of facilitator was assumed by the leader when victims and offenders were sharing their stories among each other, and together in the last session.

# SIZE OF GROUPS

The number of victims and offenders in the victim-offender groups in Rochester, United Kingdom; Winnipeg, Manitoba; Saskatoon, Saskatchewan; and Calgary, Alberta varied from 1-5 victims and 2-5 offenders in each joint session. Because of the size and layout of the rooms available at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre, the maximum number of participants was set at 8 victims and 8 offenders. This number would also allow for attrition, which had been identified as a problem in victim-offender groups by Kim Pate (1992).

# VICTIMS

In order to run a group which included victims of residential Break and Enter, it was necessary to have access to information about such victims within a specific jurisdiction during a particular time. Approval was obtained from the Edmonton Police Service to utilize the log book in which the Identification Section records addresses to which a team was sent to dust for fingerprints and examine the crime scene. Addresses of victims in Edmonton who had their homes broken into between June 1 and August 31, 1992, were obtained from the log book. The Edmonton Police Service file numbers were also obtained from the book and run through the central Police Service computer to get phone numbers. Individuals in the identified pool of victims were then sent letters which introduced the project and outlined the program (Appendix 2). Victims were given the option of declining to participate immediately via the bottom portion of the letter which was to be detached and mailed in a stamped, addressed envelope. If there was no response within two weeks, victims were contacted by telephone and asked if they wished to participate. A total of 97 letters were sent for the two program sequences, which resulted in 6 victims who expressed a willingness to participate in the victim-offender program.

The rationale for sending the letter with the response form was to safeguard the victims' privacy. If a victim was not interested in participating, little effort was involved in communicating this. Obtaining participants in this way is described by Northen (1988) as a reaching out approach in which "there is no typical application by the recipients of service, but rather a seeking out of persons thought to be in need and an active offering of service to them" (Northen, p. 154).

# **OFFENDERS**

Offenders considered for the program were those serving a secure custody disposition at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre between July 1 and October 31, 1992 with at least one conviction for residential Break and Enter. A list of young offenders who met these criteria was obtained from the Correctional Services Management Information System. The offenders on the list were approached, the program was explained to them, and they were then given the option to participate. None of the 20 offenders who were asked to participate declined. They were then randomly assigned to the control and experimental groups. This procedure is outlined in Chapter 4.

Approval to access the Correctional Services Management Information System and run the victim-offender groups was obtained from Paddy Meade, Executive Director of the Young Offender Branch, Correctional Services Division, Department of Justice. Before approval was given, the project proposal was reviewed and recommended for approval by Dr. Patrick Thauberger, Director of Treatment Services, Correctional Services Division.

# PROBLEMS IDENTIFIED BY DATA SOURCES

# Hostile/Emotionally Upset Victims

Keith Brooks, Calgary Police Service (1991), expressed concern that victims need to feel comfortable expressing anger in the group, and Gerry Wright, Program Director, Edmonton Young Offender Centre (1992) raised questions about how the offenders would react to angry victims (passively or aggressively). This was dealt with by having the victims discuss these feelings at any time during both victims only sessions. In the victims only sessions, feelings of anger surfaced when the victims were relating their experiences as victims of Break and Enter. Little of the anger that was originally expressed towards young offenders in general was directed at the young offenders that the victims met. In the sessions for the young offenders only, the offenders were told that the victims were angry, and reasons for these feelings were discussed.

# **Keeping Joint Sessions Evenly Focused**

Kim Pate (1992), Keith Brooks (1991), Staff Sergeant Richards (1991), Staff Sergeant Zaharko (1992), and Constable Whitback (1992), were of the opinion that victims must be given equal opportunity in the joint sessions to express their feelings and relate their experiences. They felt that the main focus of the sessions should not be offenders talking about themselves and providing victims with excuses for their actions. This was addressed in both program sequences by giving ample time for questions and discussion in victims only sessions, and asking each victim and offender in turn to tell about their experiences and address other victims or offenders.

# **Emotionally Upset Offenders**

Dr. Patrick Thauberger, Co-ordinator of Treatment Services, Correctional Services Division, (1992) requested that plans be in place to deal with offenders who might be upset as a result of the sessions. Therefore, staff on the units at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre where participants were housed were made aware of a young offender's participation in the group and asked to be alert to any unusual behaviours following participation in the group.

# **CHAPTER 4: RESEARCH DESIGN**

Different designs were used to assess the program from the perspective of victims and offenders. An experimental design was used for evaluation of the victim-offender group for offender participants. This design is appropriate for use in attempting to establish a connection between the independent variable, in this case, the victim-offender program and change (Grinnell, 1988, p. 235). Offenders who met program criteria were randomly assigned to the experimental or control groups to ensure that the groups were equivalent in terms of characteristics such as age and number of offences. Offenders in both experimental and control groups were given a pretest, which was administered in the visitors lounge one day prior to the first offenders only session. The experimental group then prepared to meet victims and subsequently met with a group of victims for a total of two offenders only and one victim-offender session. The control group were given no questionnaire sessions. A post-test was administered in the visitors lounge to both experimental and control groups the day after the final program session. In addition to the post-test, the experimental group completed a feedback questionnaire on the sessions. The design for groups of offenders is as follows:

$\mathbf{E} = 0_1 \mathbf{X}_1 \mathbf{O}_2$
$C = O_1 X_0 O_2$
E = Experimental group
C = Control group
$0_1 = Pre-test$
$0_2 = Post-test$
$X_1 = Program sequence (3 sessions)$
$X_0 = No$ sessions

A post-test only, single-group design was used to evaluate the victim participants. The post-test was administered immediately after the final session of the program, and took the form of a feedback questionnaire. The design for groups of victims is as follows:

> $X_1 O_1$   $X_1 = Program sequence (3 sessions)$  $0_1 = Post-test$

# **RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

The research questions addressed are as follows:

- 1. Whether bringing offenders together with victims of crime will lead to a decrease in the frequency with which offenders justify their behaviour, or avoid taking responsibility for it.
- 2. Whether bringing victims of crime together to share their experiences as victims, receive information on the youth justice system, and meet offenders, will be seen by victims as useful.
- 3. Whether bringing offenders together with victims of crime to hear how crime has impacted them and share experiences will be seen as useful by offenders and give them a better understanding of how victims experience crime.

# **HYPOTHESES**

The question of whether participation in the victim-offender program has had an effect on offender participants can be stated in the form of the following hypotheses:

- #1: "Groups of between 3 and 8 offenders who meet with a group of between 3 and 8 victims will show less acceptance of delinquent acts as indicated by an increase in their scores on Ball's Neutralization Scale."
- #2 "Groups of between 3 and 8 offenders who meet with a group of between 3 and 8 victims will find the information and experience useful and express a better understanding of how victims experience crime, as indicated by their answers to the feedback questionnaire."

The question of whether participation in the victim-offender group has had an effect on victim participants can be stated in the form of the following hypothesis:

#3: "Groups of between 3 and 8 victims who meet with a group of between 3 and 8 offenders will find the information and experience useful, as indicated by their answers to the post-test questionnaire."

# SAMPLE SIZE

The number of participants in the victim-offender groups for the two program sequences totalled 6 victims and 10 offenders in the two experimental groups and 9 offenders in the two control groups. One victim who attended the first session of the first program sequence did not return for the last two. One offender attended only one session out of three of the first program sequence.

# MEASUREMENT

This study included both qualitative and quantitative measures. Three measurement instruments were used. First, all victims and offenders were asked to

complete a questionnaire (Appendices 3 & 4) in order to provide the leader with feedback on the program. This instrument was administered after completion of the third session of the program sequence. Second, changes in the offenders' justification or neutralization of behaviour were measured utilizing Ball's Neutralization Scale (1973). The scale consists of 40 items (Appendix 5). It was administered to all experimental and control group offenders the day before the first offenders-only session, and again the day after the third session of each program sequence. A split-half method of administering the scale was used pre- and post-test, with the odd numbered items in the pre-test, and the even number items in the post-test. Third, process recordings were completed by the leader on each session, in order to provide a record of the topics covered in the sessions, and participant interaction. These recordings were used in determining whether the objectives of the program had been met in terms of session content, and are provided in detail in Chapter 5.

### QUALITATIVE MEASURES

### **Feedback Questionnaires**

In constructing the feedback questionnaires, questions were obtained from samples of questionnaires from the programs at Calgary Young Offender Centre, Calgary, Alberta; Drumheller Institution, Drumheller, Alberta; Her Majesty's Youth Custody Centre, Rochester, United Kingdom; and Headingly Correctional Institution, Winnipeg, Manitoba. Janine Miani (1991), Kim Pate (1992), and Keith Brooks (1991), stressed the value of obtaining feedback from participants about the groups, in order to determine if the objectives of the sessions had been met and in terms of making improvements for further sessions.

### **Process Recordings**

Programs at Calgary Young Offender Centre, Drumheller Institution, and Headingly Correctional Institution utilize process recordings to give the reader an indication of what was discussed in the groups. They also provide verification that the proposed content of the sessions was covered and the objectives of session met. If not, the recordings give an indication why this happened.

## **QUANTITATIVE MEASURE**

### **Ball's Neutralization Scale**

The scale was constructed in order to test assumptions in Sykes and Matza's theory that delinquents accept more justifications for law violations than do non-delinquents.

Ball's Neutralization Scale or inventory presents the respondent with fairly specific hypothetical offense situations. The scale was pre-tested with fifteen and sixteen year old boys held in Ohio detention facilities. The scale was then submitted to judges from the Department of Sociology and Anthropology, Ohio State University to investigate and confirm it's validity. The panel consisted of two professors with specialties in criminology and deviant behaviour, two professors with special competencies in research methods, and one advanced graduate student specializing in criminology. Each judge was given Sykes and Matza's original article and asked to rate each item according to how well it indicated neutralization as presented by Sykes and Matza.

Reliability and validity was established by use of the Kuder Richardson formula, which yielded a reliability coefficient of .98 (Ball, 1973, p. 31). According to the judges, the inventory appeared to possess face validity. Correlation obtained between the neutralization inventory and related measures, including the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory, Index of Incipient Alienation, and the Srole Scale were .36, .28, and .41 respectively (Ball, p. 31). The coefficients are statistically significant (p < .05) (Ball, p. 31).

## ETHICAL ISSUES

Confidentiality was discussed with both victims and offenders at first contact. During group sessions no last names were used. A detailed explanation of the program was given by the leader to offenders and victims, and a written program description provided. Each participant was required to sign a consent form (Appendices 6 & 7)

Unit Staff at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre were made aware of the program, what it involved, and who was participating. Dr. Patrick Thauberger, Director of Treatment Services, Correctional Services Division, had requested that staff members on the Units be aware of what the program entailed in order that they could deal with the situation if an offender became upset because of something that transpired in the group.

### **CHAPTER 5: PROCESS RECORDINGS**

This chapter provides an account of what took place in the groups that made up the two program sequences. The objectives of the victim-offender program were as follows:

- Victims will express their views and feelings about being victimized by the offence of Break and Enter, and the offenders will express their views about committing such offences;
- Victims will discuss their individual experiences of being victimized and how they have coped with these experiences;
- Offenders will verbalize a better understanding of the consequences of their actions in respect to victims;
- Offenders will verbalize more responsibility and use fewer excuses for their actions;
- Victims and offenders will relate conceptions they have of each other, thus providing an opportunity to gain a better understanding of each other as individuals rather than stereotyped labels;
- Victims will identify and discuss questions, concerns and feelings that they have about being victimized with offenders, and through this discussion, reduce anxiety, enabling them to leave the event behind them and go on with their lives;
- The Edmonton Police Service will increase their involvement in the area of victim-offender contact;

• The victim-offender program will add to the range of programming offered at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre.

Each meeting within each program sequence is presented, including when the group was held, members present, goals of the group, activities, and major themes that came out of the discussion. Finally a summary of the discussion is provided with a brief analysis.

## **PROGRAM SEQUENCE #1**

Victim's Group - Session #1 August 10, 1992

# Members Present

Rob H. Dennis G. Gail G. Gail U.

# Members Absent None

## Purpose/Goals

- For victims to tell their own stories about their experiences at being victimized by a Break and Enter
- To provide victims with information on the youth justice system
- To provide victims with the opportunity to ask questions about aspects of the Young Offender Act that they are uncertain about

## Activities

• Going around the group and asking each victim to tell their story

- Presentation of information on the history of the Young Offender's Act, its principles, youth court, and programs provided in Alberta under the Act
- Opportunity for the victims to ask questions at any point
- Victims were asked to think about what they would like to say to the offenders, and questions they would like to ask, and write these down for the next meeting

### **Major Themes**

- Feelings of anger, and of having been violated, that the victims had when their homes were broken into, especially when they were at home at the time of the break-in
- Lack of responsibility taken by parents of youth who engage in crime
- Leniency of the Young Offender's Act and the youth justice system
- Car thefts that the victims have experienced, and the anger that they feel

#### Discussion

The victims were given the proposed agenda for the evening and invited to interject with questions at any time. To begin, victims were asked to tell about themselves and their experiences as victims of residential Break and Enters. All victims reported having their homes broken into more than once -- twice each for Gail G., Dennis G., and Rob H. and three times for Gail U. Gail G. and Gail U. stated that they are fearful in their homes and have dreams about intruders. While neither of these victims had seen the offenders, they had heard them in the house. The two male members expressed anger, and speculated on what might have happened if they had confronted the offender during the act. Much detailed information was given in discussing victimization experiences.

Gail G. became visibly upset when discussing the last Break and Enter when she had been at home. Other victims made supportive comments such as "I know how you feel," and nodded in agreement with statements that she made.

Group members appeared interested in the information presented on the Young Offender's Act. Several times during the presentation, members interjected with comments such as: "I had no idea that was how sentencing worked" and expressed surprise and disagreement with the fact the young offenders are given the same legal representation as adults.

Two members complained about seeing young people "wandering around" their neighbourhood at all hours of the night and questioned their parental supervision. Group members asked questions about "typical" offenders and their backgrounds as well as about differences in the types of offences committed by males and females. All victims agreed that the Young Offender's Act is too lenient with respect to sentencing and that 16 and 17 year old young people should be considered as "adults" for court purposes.

During the discussion on Break and Enters, Dennis G. noted that his car had also been stolen. He stated that he was almost angrier about the car than about the house, although the car had been returned undamaged. Rob H. then joined in the discussion, relating that his car had also been stolen. Concern was expressed about still being angry over the offences, and not being able to hold back from expressing this when meeting offenders. Dennis G. expressed the view that the opportunity to talk and share concerns

had helped to calm him down and he was now more curious about the offenders.

Offender's Group - Session #1 August 12, 1992

### **Members Present**

Kelly G. Shane H. Donald J. Fred K. Duane G. Shane B. Donald H.

### Members Absent None

### **Purpose/Goals**

- For group members to become acquainted
- For group members to discuss their crimes
- For group members to consider how their offences may have affected the victims .
- To share with offenders some of the questions and concerns voiced by the victims in their first session
- To provide information to offenders about the victims they will be meeting

### Activities

- Going around the group with offenders taking turns summarizing their records and the types of property offences committed
- The group leader summarizing concerns and questions voiced by victims
- Discussing victim concerns and situations that offenders had been in that are similar to those that concern victims

# Major Themes

- Feelings of fear and helplessness that the victims have after a Break and Enter when they were at home
- Images offenders have of victims
- When and why the offenders became involved in crime
- Types of property taken and vandalism done

### Summary/Discussion

The offenders were given information by the leader about the victims, including their approximate ages, number of times victimized, and that all the victims had been at home when the Break and Enters occurred. Three group members then related their experiences at finding victims at home during their commission of offences. All offenders agreed that they do not intend to commit offences when the victims are at home and that victims have a right to protect their property.

When asked what they thought the victims of the homes they had broken into looked like, the consensus was that they tried not to think about that. One group member recalled that he had once turned a wedding picture on it's face because it made him feel like he was "robbing a person." Two others then told of instances where they had ended up at the residence of some people that they knew. One member stated that "I did it anyway because I knew that they were worse criminals than me."

Each member was encouraged to discuss why they had become involved in crime. All noted having started with committing property crimes at 10 or 11 years of age, aside from "candy from the store" as one offender put it, which started earlier. Two offenders indicated that they started for "thrills" and the rest said it was "peer pressure." All agreed that they like the money that they get from crime, with two reporting the need for money to buy drugs as a prime motivator. Members stated that the type of property stolen depended on a number of factors, including time and seeking particular items. The most popular items related were televisions, videocassette recorders, stereo equipment, jewellery, and cash. As one member noted, these items are easily replaced by insurance. He also claimed to "know" of victims who had reported items stolen that had in fact been lost or sold before the Break and Enter.

# Victims Group - Session #2 August 17, 1992

Members Present Gail G. Dennis G. Gail U.

Members Absent Rob H.

Although Rob H. did not show up for the group on August 17, he came on August 19, saying that he got his dates mixed up. He was asked to join the scheduled victim/offender session on August 26.

### Purpose/Goals

- To provide victims with information about the Young Offender Centre
- To provide an opportunity for victims to discuss their feelings about having been victimized by residential Break and Enters

• To provide an opportunity for the group to address any thoughts or questions arising as a result of the last meeting

## Activities

- Presentation of information on the Young Offender Centre
- Discussion of the information presented
- Each victim was asked to list and discuss the questions they wanted to address with the group of offenders

### Major Themes

- Misconceptions that victims had about the Centre
- Concerns about meeting offenders

### Summary/Discussion

The victims were given a presentation by the group leader on the Young Offender Centre. The presentation was based on the orientation manual used to familiarize new residents with the Centre. Material included rules and regulations, the different units and number of offenders on each unit, as well as programs offered, work details and incentive allowance. All victims expressed the view that the Centre operates more like a jail than they had been led to believe by the media. They were particularly interested in the day to day workings of the Centre. One member expressed surprise that offenders over 16 years are not allowed to smoke and noted that this seemed harsh to her.

During the first session victims had been asked to think of questions they would like to ask offenders. Some of those identified included their backgrounds, particularly if they came from one or two-parent families, and if they felt remorse for their actions. Group members were then told about the number of offenders they would be meeting, the length of their records, and amount of time being served. By the end of the session, victims stated that they were forming mental images of the offenders.

The victims admitted that the information provided defused their anger towards the offenders and the court system. As one member remarked, by the end of this session he felt that he had "vented enough." None of the victims were interested in role plays to help them prepare for meeting the offenders. They agreed that they felt more comfortable not doing so. Also, they had numerous questions and preferred pursuing that topic in the joint meeting.

# Offenders Group - Session #2 August 19, 1992

## Members Present

Kelly G. Shane H. Donald J. Fred K. Duane G. Donald H.

Members Absent Shane B.

## **Purpose/Goals**

• To provide offenders with information about what is available to victims through the Edmonton Police Service, and kinds of services they might need after experiencing property crime

# Activities

- Presentation of information on the Edmonton Police Service, Victim Services Unit by an Edmonton Police Service member
- Discussion of the information and questions

## Summary/Discussion

The offenders were attentive while the officer was speaking, and each offender had at least one question. All members expressed surprise that victims are in need of support after property crimes have been committed, and the point made that many victims do not have insurance for items stolen.

Shane H. asked the officer if victims are allowed to assault offenders found breaking into their homes. The officer recounted incidents where this had been the case, and the concept of reasonable force was discussed.

Discussion also covered offenders' views on the police in general, and arresting officers in particular. The officer said that he enjoyed hearing the offenders' opinions in a non-arrest situation.

# Victim/Offender Group - Session #3 August 26, 1992

Members Present Gail G. Dennis G. Gail U. Kelly G. Shane H. Donald J. Fred K. Duane G. Donald H.

# Members Absent Rob H. Shane B.

# Purpose/Goals

- To provide victims with information about the records of the offenders in the group
- To provide an opportunity for victims to tell the offenders about the circumstances of their Break and Enter victimizations and how they felt about these incidents
- To provide a forum for victims and offenders to ask questions of each other and engage in discussion

# Activities

- Going around the group and having offenders summarize their records, length of sentence being served and backgrounds
- Providing victims with an opportunity to tell about the incidents when their homes were broken into, and express feelings about being victimized
- Providing an opportunity for victims and offenders to ask questions of each other

# Major Themes

- Interest by victims about the offenders in terms of background, family, and what led them into crime
- The type of homes offenders look for in terms of security, and the type of property taken
- Offenders' plans upon release from custody
- How victims of break and enter feel uneasy in their own homes

### Summary/Discussion

The joint session was devoted entirely to victim and offender questions and individual stories. Initially there was little interaction between victims and young offenders. The victims sat quietly, looking around the visitors lounge. Dennis G. remarked that it was an experience "just to be in here." The leader welcomed everyone to the group. The process for the meeting was explained, and to get discussion going offenders were asked to provide a brief summary of their previous records, and highlight any areas they thought might be of interest or that they wanted to share. Victims were asked to state how many times they had been victimized. Participants were asked to save their questions until everyone had a chance to speak. They were assured that they did not have to answer questions that made them uncomfortable, but to say why they were uncomfortable if they could.

After presentations by each member, questions were asked by most participants. Gail G. directed her question concerning family background to all the offenders and addressed each one in turn. Only Donald J. was hesitant in answering, and gave no reason. Shane H. answered in detail and provided a history of his movement from foster home to foster home.

Dennis G. asked what offenders look for in a home before committing a Break and Enter, and how one is done. Two offenders answered the question by relating past incidents in detail, including how the houses were chosen, how entry was gained, and what items were taken. Dennis G. did not express shock or disapproval, but stated that it was interesting to hear an offender's perspective. While the victims did not appear adverse to discussing how they felt with the offenders, they expressed more interest in how the offenders felt about being in custody, and programs they were in. Victims were prompted by the leader to discuss feelings that were brought up in the victim sessions. Dennis G. expressed his feelings of helplessness in terms of protecting his family while Gail G. told of difficulties sleeping and a general feeling of being unsafe in her home. Gail G. also related a story about her cat, who had previously been a friendly, relaxed animal, but since the Break and Enter had become nervous and distrustful.

Discussion was animated and continuous. All members participated to some degree. Gail U., who had been eager to talk during the victims only sessions spoke little in the joint session. Two of the offenders also spoke less than they did in the offenders only sessions. At the end of the group, victims stated that they thought the combined session could have been longer, although they felt they had been given ample opportunity to express their feelings. Gail U. stated that her fears about meeting offenders were unfounded. Three of the offenders admitted that their concerns about victims being angry and lecturing them about their crimes were unfounded. They were relieved.

## **PROGRAM SEQUENCE #2**

Goals and activities for the sessions comprising the second program sequence were the same as the first. Therefore they will not be repeated in the following narrative. Themes for each victim, offender and joint session differed from one program sequence to another, and are listed prior to the summary and discussion.

## Victims Session #1 & #2 combined

### October 5, 1992

During this program sequence there was only one session for victims only. On September 28, there was an attempted escape from one of the units at the Young Offender Centre, and due to the publicity received, the Director felt that having members of the public in the institution on September 30 would not be advisable. After discussion with the victim participants by telephone, it was agreed that the material to be presented would be given at a longer session on October 5.

## **Members Present**

Ian H. Fay A. Craig T.

Members Absent None

### Major Themes

- How the youth justice system encourages young offenders to avoid taking responsibility for their actions
- Concerns about meeting offenders
- The way the victims felt violated after their homes had been broken into, and the way this has changed their behaviour and habits regarding their homes
- A strong interest in what offenders are really like as opposed to people they see on television and read about in the newspaper

### Summary/Discussion

As in the first sequence, the victims were given an overview of the material to be presented and invited to respond with questions. To begin, victims were asked to tell about their experiences as victims of residential break and enter. All victims had their homes broken into once, and unlike the first group, none of the victims had been at home when the offences occurred.

Two victims asked numerous questions right from the beginning of the session. Ian H. stated that he believes that not only is the Young Offender's Act too permissive, but parents are not accepting responsibility for the actions of their children. He related how the police had arrested two suspects who had broken into his house, but had been told by the parents that their children were home at the time when the break-in had occurred. Ian H. expressed anger that it seemed to him that parents were covering up for their children. He had a page of questions prepared that he wanted to ask offenders. Craig T. also had prepared a list of questions to ask the offenders, as well as questions about the Young Offender's Act and the Young Offender Centre. He told the group that his wife was working at night and was sorry that she could not attend the sessions, but some of the questions were hers as well.

Fay A. expressed some apprehension about meeting the offenders. At this time the leader described the young offenders who had agreed to participate in the group in terms of age, previous convictions and sentences. She was also told that during the offender sessions in August, the offenders had also been apprehensive about meeting victims. Fay A. also stated that she has had difficulties sleeping and does not like to go out as much as before. She has also discussed improved security with the manager of her apartment building. Craig T. related how he had installed a security system in his home, and would like the opportunity to ask the offenders about security systems as deterrents. He also mentioned that he and his wife are from a small town, and had their home broken into one month after they had moved to Edmonton. Craig T. stated that as a result of the break-in, his wife does not like to be at home by herself.

Fay A. expressed curiosity as to what young offenders are like. She stated that she has a 30 year old son, and admitted that at times she was afraid that he would become involved in illegal activities. Another victim concurred and spoke about his own son. Both victims agreed that parents may have difficulties directing their children despite the best of intentions.

# Offenders Group - Session #1 September 30, 1992

# **Members Present**

Donald M. Jason C. David T. Dustin W.

Members Absent None

### Major Themes

- Images offenders have of victims
- When and why the offenders became involved in crime
- How property crime is seen by this group as a "job" and how lucrative that job can be

- Types of property taken and vandalism done
- Security systems as a deterrent to residential Break and Enter

### Summary/Discussion

As with the first group, the offenders were given information by the leader about the victims, including the number of times they had been victimized. This information had been obtained from the victims during telephone contact, as there was no victim session prior to the first offender session. Donald M. reacted to the ages of two of the victims by stating that he didn't "think of victims as being old people." He said that it would bother him to know that he was taking something from someone like his grandmother. Dustin W. said that it would depend what it was, and pointed out that "a television's a television."

Each offender was given the opportunity to tell when and how he became involved in crime. The earliest age from the offender accounts was 10 years of age. All offenders agreed that they started committing property offences for "thrills," but continued when they discovered how much money could be made. Each offender had a story regarding the most money he had made from a single break and enter. David T. pointed out the youth workers and probation officers who try to tell him to go out and get a job don't realize that the kind of job he could get is only "pocket change." The others nodded in agreement. The leader then asked David how the time he is spending at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre is figured in, and he admitted that "it is a definite downside." This same offender was serving the longest single sentence of any of the offenders in the group, 20 months for possession of stolen property obtained from Break and Enters.

The offenders gave examples of the types of property that were taken and how much particular items could be sold for. None of the group members admitted to vandalism, agreeing that "its a waste of time." At this point, the offenders discussed how security systems are not necessarily a deterrent. There was a general consensus that some security systems are easier to get through than others, and that a system can be an indication that there is something in the house to steal. At this point, the leader interjected that victims may install systems in order to feel safe rather than just to protect property. Discussion of how victims may feel exposed in their own home continued as a way to distract the offenders away from what was beginning to be a "brag session."

The offenders had to be redirected to discuss how their actions affected victims. When asked for questions or comments to be directed to the victims, Dustin W. expressed surprise that not all victims have insurance on all property, and stated that "they should." David T. remarked that "maybe they can't afford it." Donald M. then asked if the female victim would likely cry in the joint session, and said that he would find this hard to deal with. David T. concurred. When asked what they might do if confronted with such a situation, Donald M. said that he would just keep telling the victim that he is sorry, even though he was not the one "who did her house." David T. said that he would tell the victim that "I won't do houses anymore, just businesses." Offender Group - Session #2 October 7, 1992

**Members** Present

Donald M. Jason C. David T. Dustin W.

### Members Absent None

### Activities

At the last minute, the Edmonton City Police member who addressed the first group in August was unable to attend this session. A substitute speaker could not be obtained on short notice. The leader was provided with a substantial amount of material from the Victim Services Unit, which she presented to the offenders during this session.

## Summary/Discussion

Material presented included statistics on the number of residential Break and Enters, the role of the Victim Services Unit, and the volunteers who work with victims of crime.

There was about the same amount of discussion as there had been in the first sequence. However, the discussion digressed less from the information presented. For example, in the first group, there were questions directed at the police officer on unrelated topics. Jason C. expressed surprise at the follow-up that is done with victims following a Break and Enter. He said that he really couldn't understand a victim being as upset about a property offence as they would be about a violent crime.

Since the offenders had been provided with only basic information about the victims during the first session, they were given more detail in terms of the topics discussed in the victim session. All of the offenders agreed that it was reassuring to

know that none of the victims sounded as if they would be "really angry" in the joint session. Jason C. in particular said that he hoped that they wouldn't have to listen to a lecture.

## Victim/Offender Group - Session #2/3 October 14, 1992

**Members** Present

Ian H. Fay A. Craig T. Donald M., Jason C. David T. Dustin W.

Members Absent None

## Major Themes

- Interest on the part of victims about the offenders in terms of background, family, and what led them into crime
- What types of homes offenders look for in terms of security, and what types of property are taken
- The differences between offenders who do crime "off and on" and those who make a lot of money doing it, and look upon it as a "career"
- What offenders plan to do upon release, and with the rest of their lives
- How the habits of victims change following a Break and Enter in their home
- Stereotypes that victims have about offenders, and how this meeting has challenged those stereotypes

### Summary/Discussion

Unlike the first sequence, there was little or no initial discomfort visible on the part of the victims and offenders. The victims helped arrange the chairs, and walked around the visitors area asking questions about the intercom system and security. In the first session, the victims had sat quietly. Two of the offenders came to the meeting area a little earlier than the other two, and made "small talk" about baseball with the victims prior to the arrival of the other two offenders. This lead to a discussion between the victims and the two offenders about the televisions in the Centre.

When the leader introduced the outline for the meeting, the offender who had been speaking volunteered to summarize his record first and get the discussion going. Fay A. said that she was eager to tell the offenders about her Break and Enter, and all the offenders expressed sympathy concerning her feelings about having her personal things gone through. David T. stated that she shouldn't take it personally that her underwear had been gone through as the perpetrators were likely looking for money and jewellery. The victims in this group seemed less hesitant to talk about themselves, and all three spoke equally.

At one point the discussion did digress on the topic of security systems. Both Ian H. and Craig T. had worked in the area of electronics and were interested to find out what the offenders knew about various systems. While the victims seemed sincerely interested in what the offenders had to say, the offenders, particularly Jason C. and Donald M. seemed to be trying to outdo each other in terms of their knowledge in the area. Then Craig T. remarked that the offenders seemed to be really knowledgeable, and

questioned whether they have tried to apply their "intelligence" to getting a formal education. Donald M. pointed out how lucrative crime can be, but Jason C. admitted that the risk of getting caught is making crime as a career much less attractive. He then told the group that he is taking grade 11 and 12 courses at the Centre. The other three offenders then talked about their goals for the future.

As in the first sequence, the offenders stated that they enjoyed the fact that the victims were interested in them as individuals. Ian H. admitted that the young offenders did not look like he had pictured them. When asked why by one offender who is Native, Ian H. admitted that he had pictured more offenders as being Native, and "not too bright." The young offender did not seem to take offence, and agreed that they have a "bad reputation."

Everyone in the group seemed to be listening to each other. One offender in particular said that he wanted to stay and continue talking to one of the victims, Ian H., tell him that he was remorseful for his crimes, and share more about what he planned to do upon release. The group agreed that they would have liked another session, just to talk to each other and "visit." Again, the victims were of the opinion that they had been given ample opportunity to express their feelings.

### **CHAPTER 6: FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION**

This chapter will present and discuss study findings. These will be divided into several areas. First the demographic information on offenders and victims will be presented. This information was obtained from the victims themselves and offender data was obtained from the Correctional Services Management Information System. Information on young offenders given community or custodial dispositions by youth court is inputted into this data base.

Demographic information on young offenders includes age, number of offences for which they have been convicted, number of convictions for Break and Enter, and racial origin. Demographic information on victims includes gender and age.

Next, the results of the feedback questionnaires will be presented. The questionnaires, divided into two parts, were administered to victims and offenders following the victim-offender sessions. The first part consists of questions to be answered by circling the number best describing the respondent's reaction to each of the statements. The second part consists of questions calling for open-ended responses. There are four questions in each part for offenders, and ten questions in part one and four in part two for victims. The information obtained from these questionnaires is presented first for offenders, then for victims.

The data obtained from the offender scores on the pre- and post-tests utilizing Ball's Neutralization Scale will then be presented.

Finally, the objectives of the victim-offender program are listed and discussed in terms of whether these were met during the sessions. This information was obtained from the group discussions as well as responses to the questionnaires.

### **DEMOGRAPHIC DATA**

### Offenders

Table 1 shows that the age of the offenders in the victim-offender program. They ranged in age from 14-18 years. Both control groups included one offender aged 14 years old and one 18; the experimental groups had no one under 15 years. The first experimental and control group had mean ages of 16.5 and 16.4 while the means for the second group were 17.71 and 16.5. The second experimental group was composed entirely of 17 and 18 year olds.

Age	Experimental Group 1	Control Group 1	Experimental Group 2	Control Group 2	Totals
14	0	1	0	1	2
15	1	0	0	0	1
16	2	1	0	0	3
17	2	2	2	2	8
18	1	1	2	1	5
Total	6	5	4	4	19
Mean	16.5	16.4	17.71	16.5	

 Table 1 - Age of Offenders

Table 2 shows the number of convictions by charge on the young offender records. As shown in the table, both experimental groups had a mean of 15 convictions on their records, (which includes convictions whose dispositions are currently being served) while control group #1 had a mean of 15. Convictions and control group #2 a mean of 18.5, the range of convictions varied; from 9 to 21 in experimental group #1, 10 to 19 in experimental group #2, 12 to 18 in control group #1, and 16 to 23 in control

group #2. The highest number offences was 23 in control group #2 and the lowest was9 in experimental group #1.

	Experi Grou			ontrol oup #1		imental up #2		ol Group #2
	1	19	1	18	1	13	1	23
	2	13	2	15	2	10	2	15
	3	9	3	12	3	19	3	16
	4	11	4	17	4	17	4	20
	5	15	5	17				
	6	21						
Mean		15		15.8		15		18.5

 Table 2 - Number of Convictions by Charge

Table 3 shows number of convictions for Break and Enter on the young offender records. As is evident from inspection of this table experimental groups had mean numbers of Break and Enters of 5.3 and 5.8, and control groups had mean numbers of Break and Enters of 5.8 and 7.3. Number of convictions for Break and Enter ranged from 2 to 10 in experimental group #1, 3 to 7 in experimental group #2, 2 to 10 in control group #2 and 1 to 13 in control group #2. The highest number of Break and Enters was 13, by an offender in control group #2, while the lowest was 1, also in control group #2.

Experin Grou			ntrol up #1		imental up #2		ol Group #2
1	6	1	7	1	6	1	13
2	4	2	5	2	7	2	6
3	4	3	2	3	3	3	1
4	6	4	10	4	7	4	9
5	2	5	5				
6	10						

 Table 3 - Convictions for Break and Enter

Table 4 shows information on ethnic origin that was obtained from the Correctional Services Management Information System. The categories are those used to describe ethnic origin at admission to the Edmonton Young Offender Centre. All groups were composed of over 50% Caucasians. Experimental Group #2 had the highest composition of young offenders of Native origin, while control group #2 had the lowest at 25%. Of the total number of participants in both program sequences 63.2% were Caucasian.

	Experimental Group #1	Control Group #1	Experimental Group #2	Control Group #2	Total
Caucasian	4	3	2	3	12
Metis	1	1	1	0	3
Registered Indian	1	1	0	0	2
Non- Registered Indian	0	0	1	1	2
Total	6	5	4	4	19

 Table 4 - Racial Origin

# Victims

Table 5 presents the gender of the victims who participated in both program sequences. The sample consists of a total of 6 victims, 3 in each program sequence. As shown in the table, the number of females and males were different for the two sequences.

Table 5 -	Victim	Gender
-----------	--------	--------

Gender	Program Sequence #1	Program Sequence #2	Number
Male	1	2	3
Female	2	1	3
Totals	• 3	3	6

Table 6 shows the age of the victims. As evident in the table, there was a wide range of ages among participants. Victims in program sequence #1 however, were all within the 40 to 50 year old category, while the 3 victims in program sequence #2 were at opposite ends, one in the 20-30 year old category, and 2 in the 70-79 year old category.

 Table 6 - Victim Age

Age	Program Sequence #1	Program Sequence #2	Number
20-30		1	1
31-39			
40-50	3		3
51-59			
60-69			
70-79		2	2
TOTALS	3	3	6

## **RESULTS OF FEEDBACK QUESTIONNAIRES**

Each questionnaire consisted of 2 parts. The first part was made up of a series of statements to which the participants were asked to respond on a five-point scale. There were 4 such statements in the offender questionnaire and 10 in the victim questionnaire. The second part of the questionnaire was made up of 4 open-ended questions, to which participants were asked to respond with whatever comments they thought appropriate.

The results of the feedback questionnaires will be presented in table form, first for offenders, then for victims. A discussion of the results as they relate to the hypothesis follows the results for offender and victim questionnaires.

## Offenders

### Part 1

Offender participants in the program were asked if they found their experiences with the program helpful. These data are presented in Table 7. As evident by inspection of the table, out of 10 offenders who responded to this question, one strongly agreed with the statement that the experience with the program was helpful, while 7 agreed. Two offenders were undecided, and none disagreed or strongly disagreed.

	Value	Number	%
Strongly Agree	1	1	10
Agree	2	7	70
Undecided	3	2	20
Disagree	4	0	
Strongly Disagree	5	0	
Total		10	100

Table 7 - "My experience with the program was helpful."

Offender participants were asked to express their views on whether the sessions challenged impressions they had about victims. The information is presented in Table 8. As shown in that table, two offenders strongly agreed with this statement, 7 agreed, and one was undecided. No one disagreed or strongly disagreed with the statement.

Table 8 - "The sessions challenged impressions I had about victims in general."

	Value	Number	%
Strongly Agree	1	2	20
Agree	2	7	70
Undecided	3	1	10
Disagree	4	0	
Strongly Disagree	5	0	
Total		10	100

Respondents were asked to indicate whether the sessions provided them with a better understanding of victims and how they experience crime. This information is presented in Table 9. As can be seen from the table, one offender strongly agreed with the statement, while 9 agreed. None of the respondents were undecided, disagreed or strongly disagreed.

	Value	Number	%
Strongly Agree	1	1	10
Agree	2	9	90
Undecided	3	0	
Disagree	4	0	
Strongly Disagree	5	0.	
Total		10	100

 

 Table 9 - "The sessions provided me with a better understanding of victims and how they experience crime."

Offenders were asked to indicate if participation in the program made them want to change their lifestyles upon release. These data are presented in Table 10. As evident in the table, 3 offenders strongly agreed with the statement, 5 agreed, while 2 were undecided. None of the respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed.

 Table 10 - "Participation in the program has made me want to change my lifestyle upon release."

	Value	Number	%
Strongly Agree	1	3	30
Agree	2	5	50
Undecided	3	2	20
Disagree	4	0	
Strongly Disagree	5	0	
Total		10	100

## Part 2

Offenders were asked which of their opinions were changed or remained the same as a result of the program. This information is presented in Table 11. As is evident from this table, responses were short. Half the offenders did not answer this question. Two simply put "none" and one said "I don't know." The other two stated that they were remorseful and "won't do houses anymore."

 Table 11 - "Which if any, of your opinions were changed or remained the same as a result of the program."

Response	Frequency	%
"None"	2	20
"Don't know"	1	10
"Won't do houses anymore"	2	20
No response	5	50
Total	10	100

Participants were asked to describe the overall experience. Their responses are displayed in Table 12. Again, the responses were short answers. Two of the offenders did not answer the questions, and one put "I don't know." Other responses included "interesting," "helpful," "thought provoking" and "a good learning experience." One offender responded that he would "think twice before doing a Break and Enter next time." Two offenders said that it was good to talk to victims.

Response	Frequency	%
"I don't know"	1	10
"Interesting"	1	10
"Thought provoking"	1	10
"Helpful"	1	10
"A good learning experience"	1	10
"Think twice"	1	10
"Good to talk to victims"	2	20
No response	2	20
Total	10	100

Table 12 - "How would you describe the overall experience?"

Offenders were asked for suggestions on how they thought the program could be improved. This information is presented Table 13. It is apparent from the table and the short responses that the offenders either thought the program was satisfactory or did not want to bother commenting. Of the 5 offenders who answered this question 3 said that they didn't know, one wrote that "it's good as it is" and one said that there should be more time to share feelings with victims.

Response	Frequency	%
"I don't know"	3	30
"It's good as it is"	1	10
"More time to share"	1	10
No response	5	50
Total	10	100

Table 13 - "How would you recommend that the program be improved?"

Finally, respondents were invited to comment on anything they wanted to about the program. One said that he thought the female victims were "nice," and hoped that his sharing of knowledge about Break and Enters would help her to prevent another "criminal" from choosing her house. Another thought that families should also be involved in talking about crime with their kids who are in jail. One said that what made him think the most was that the victims were such nice people and weren't hostile.

### Summary

Post-test questionnaires were used in addressing questions about whether participation in the victim-offender program had a positive effect on, and was seen as useful by offender participants, as stated in the following hypothesis:

"Groups of between 3 and 8 offenders who meet with a group of between 3 and 8 victims will find the information and experience useful and express a better understanding of victims and how they experience crime as indicated by their answers to the feedback questionnaire."

Overall, the offenders found the program helpful and all agreed that they were provided with a better understanding of how victims experience crime. Eight out of ten offenders agreed that meeting with victims made them want to change their lifestyle upon release, with 8 responding with comments about "not doing houses anymore." Individual comments about the overall experience were positive, and did indicate that 8 out of 10 offenders got something out of the program.

# Victims

## Part 1

Victims who participated in the program were asked in the questionnaire previously mentioned, if their experiences with the group sessions were helpful. This information is presented in Table 14. As is evident by looking at the table, two victims strongly agreed with the statement and four agreed. None were undecided, disagreed or strongly disagreed.

Response	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	2	33.3
"Agree"	2	4	66.7
"Undecided"	3	0	0
"Disagree"	4	0	0
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

Table 14 - "My experience with the group sessions was helpful."

Victim participants were asked to express their views on whether the session had challenged impressions and stereotypes they had of offenders in general. This information is presented in Table 15. As shown in the table, four victims agreed with the statement, while two were undecided. None strongly agreed, strongly disagreed or disagreed.

Response	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	0	0
"Agree"	2	4	66.7
"Undecided"	3	2	33.3
"Disagree"	4	0	0
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

 Table 15 - "The sessions challenged impressions and stereotypes I held about offenders in general."

Participants were asked if they had come away from the sessions with a better understanding of offenders and their motivation for committing offences. This information is presented in Table 16. As is evident from the table, 5 victims agreed with the statement, and one was undecided. None strongly agreed, or strongly disagreed or disagreed.

Response	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	0	0
"Agree"	2	5	83.3
"Undecided"	3	1	16.7
"Disagree"	4	0	0
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

 

 Table 16 - "The sessions have given me a better understanding about offenders and their motivation for committing offences."

Participants gave their opinions on whether the information presented in the sessions helped them to deal better with some of the feelings they had about being victimized. This information is presented in Table 17. Two victims strongly agreed and

3 agreed that the information helped them. One victim disagreed, and none strongly disagreed or strongly agreed.

Responses	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	2	33.3
"Agree"	2	3	50.0
"Undecided"	3	0	0
"Disagree"	4	1	16.7
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

 Table 17 - "Information obtained as a result of the program enabled me to better deal with some of the feelings I had about being victimized."

Victims were also asked if they generally found the information that was presented on young offenders and the criminal justice system helpful. These data are found in Table 18. As is evident from the table, two victims strongly agreed and four victims agreed with the statement. No participants were undecided, disagreed or strongly disagreed.

 Table 18 - "I found the general information provided on young offenders and the criminal justice system helpful."

Responses	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	2	33.3
"Agree"	2	4	66.7
"Undecided"	3	0	0
"Disagree"	4	0	0
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

Victims participants were asked to respond to a statement about the value of talking about their victimization with other victims. The frequency of their responses are presented in Table 19. The table shows that two victims strong agreed with the statement, and three agreed. One victim was undecided and none disagreed or strongly disagreed.

Responses	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	2	33.3
"Agree"	2	3	50.0
"Undecided"	3	1	16.7
"Disagree"	4	0	0
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

 Table 19 - "I found it helpful to talk about the experience of having had my home broken into with victims of a similar offence."

Another statement in the questionnaire related to whether or not the victims felt the offenders were being honest. These responses are presented in Table 20. Responses were all positive. One victim strongly agreed and five victims agreed with the statement. Again, no respondents were undecided, disagreed or strongly disagreed.

Responses	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	1	16.7
"Agree"	2	5	83.3
"Undecided"	3	0	0
"Disagree"	4	0	0
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

Table 20 - "I found that during the meeting, the offenders were honest."

Participants were asked if they were glad to have had the opportunity to confront offenders with the results of their actions. These data are presented in Table 21. Two victims strongly agreed and 4 agreed with the statement. None were undecided, disagreed or strongly disagreed.

Responses	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	2	33.3
"Agree"	2	4	66.7
"Undecided"	3	0	0
"Disagree"	4	0	0
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

 Table 21 - "I am glad to have had the opportunity to confront the offenders with the results of their actions"

Victims commented on whether they found offenders to be like ordinary youth. This information is found in Table 22. As is evident from this table, there was a range of responses. Two victims strongly agreed with the statement, 3 agreed, and 1 disagreed. None were undecided or strongly disagreed.

Responses	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	2	33.3
"Agree"	2	3	50.0
"Undecided"	3	0	0
"Disagree"	4	1	16.7
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

Table 22 - "I found that the offenders were very much like any ordinary youth."

Victims indicated their interest in listening to the offenders' side of the story. This information is presented in Table 23. As is evident by examination of this table, responses to this statement were positive. Two victims strongly agreed and 4 agreed with the statement. None were undecided, disagreed or strongly disagreed.

Responses	Value	Frequency	%
"Strongly Agree"	1	2	33.3
"Agree"	2	4	66.7
"Undecided"	3	0	0
"Disagree"	4	0	· 0
"Strongly Disagree"	5	0	0
Total		6	100

Table 23 - "I have found it interesting to listen to the offenders' side of the story."

## Part 2

Victims were asked which of their opinions were changed or remained the same as a result of the program. Their responses are presented in Table 24. Over half of the victims found the offenders to be different from their previous conceptions. The most frequent responses was that offenders did not look like they had pictured them. One victim stated that after meeting the offenders, he/she was now of the opinion that more young offenders need to be given a chance to "reform." One victim simply stated "none."

Response	Frequency	%
"Offenders didn't look like I pictured them"	3	50.0
"Didn't look as hardened"	1	16.7
"Young offenders need to be give a chance"	1	16.7
"None"	1	16.7
Total	6	100.0

 Table 24 - "Which, if any of your opinions where changed or remained the same as a result of your meeting with the offenders?"

Victims were asked to describe their overall experience with the program. Their responses are listed in Table 25. All of the victims answered briefly and gave positive responses which showed that they felt they had learned from the program.

Table 25 - "How would you describe the overall experience?"

Response	Frequency	%
"Interesting to meet offenders"	1	13.7
"Interesting to learn about the system"	1	13.7
"Experience was enlightening"	1	13.7
"Experience was interesting"	1	13.7
"Thought-provoking"	1	13.7
"Educational"	1	13.7
Total	6	100.0

Victims were asked for recommendations on how they thought the victim/offender program could be improved. Their responses are listed in Table 26. The table shows

that the victims had few recommendations. Three had no recommendations at all, while 1 thought more sessions were needed, and another felt the group should be larger.

Response	Frequency	%
"None"	3	50.0
"More sessions needed"	1	16.7
"Group should be larger"	1	16.7
No response	1	16.7
Total	6	100.0

Table 26 - "How would you recommend that the groups be improved?"

#### Summary

Post-test questionnaires completed by victims were used in addressing the question of whether participation in the victim-offender program had an effect on victim participants, as stated in the form of the following hypothesis:

"Groups of between 3 and 8 victims who meet with a group of between 3 and 8 offenders will find the information and experience useful, as indicated by their answers to the post-test questionnaire."

All victims agreed that they found the group session helpful, and that the information presented on young offenders and the criminal justice system was also helpful in a general sense. All victims were glad to have had the opportunity to confront offenders. Responses were more diverse in terms of whether the sessions challenged impressions victims held about offenders in general, gave victims a better understanding of why offenders commit crimes, and helped them to deal with feelings that they had about being victimized. Although 1 victim disagreed that information provided had

helped him/her to better deal with feelings about being victimized, no elaboration was given in the comments section. The same respondent was undecided as to whether talking about the experience of being victimized with other victims was helpful.

From the answers to the questionnaires it can be concluded that the victims who participated in the program found some or all components of the program helpful.

## Scores on Ball's Neutralization Scale

Changes in the offender's justification or neutralization of behaviour were measured using Ball's Neutralization Scale (1973), an operational measure of neutralization. All tests were completed by experimental and control groups together, and supervised by the group leader.

The question of whether participation in the victim-offender program had an effect on offender participants is stated in the form of the following hypothesis:

"Group of between 3 and 8 offenders who meet with a group of between 3 and 8 victims will show less acceptance of delinquent acts as indicated by an increase in their scores on Ball's Neutralization Scale."

Since random assignment to experimental and control groups was used, and preand post-test scores were compiled, the data was analyzed using analysis of co-variance (Campbell & Stanley, 1963, p. 23). SPSS was used for analysis with the level of significance at .05. A direction is indicated in the hypothesis, therefore the two-tailed probabilities are to be divided by two.

The pre- and post-test scores for experimental and control groups for both sequences are presented in Table 27. While all groups showed an increase in post-test

over pre-test mean scores, the highest post-test score was in control group #1, while the lowest was in control group #2.

		Sequer	nce #1	Sequence #2				
	Experiment	al Group	Control Group		Experimental Group		Control Group	
	Pre-test	Post-test	Pre-test	Post-test	Pre-test	Post-test	Pre-test	Post- test
1	61	65	78	83	50	54	66	78
2	55	57	64	70	71	71	79	68
3	71	73	59	63	64	62	52	54
4	68	78	56	57	60	60	46	45
5	78	79	65	66	-	-	-	-
6	43	42	-	-			-	-
Mean	66.67	65.67	64.90	67.80	61.25	61.75	60.75	61.25

 Table 27 - Test Scores

For both program sequences, the differences between post-test scores, allowing for differences in the pre-test scores were statistically significant at the .05 level (sequence #1 - F = 132.03; sequence #2 - F = 11.04). The significance of t for sequence #1 was .000, for sequence #2, .021. In relation to the victim/offender program, the above results indicate that for this particular program and group of offenders, the control groups showed less acceptance of delinquent acts as measured by the offenders scores on Ball's Neutralization Scale. Given that this group received only the regular programming at Edmonton Young Offender Centre, the results suggest that the program had no effect on Balls Neutralization Scale as an outcome measure.

There are several possible reasons for these results. First, the sample of offenders is small and only two program sequences were delivered. The results might be different

with larger groups and more program sequences; they would likely be more representative of the actual population value (Norusis, p. 174). Second, the groups were run over a period of four weeks, with pre- and post-tests given before and after the program. The time between tests may have been insufficient for changes to take place in the neutralization of delinquent acts. Third, the offenders spent relatively few hours in the group session as compared to the number of hours between sessions that were spent in the institutional environment. In this environment, the offenders are in constant contact with other offenders who are supportive of rationalizations/excuses for delinquent acts. This supports Miller's theory that delinquent behavior is related to association with other delinquents, and constant exposure to their values. Fourthly, there was only one meeting between victims and offenders, and the lack of change in justifications of delinquent acts may be due to lack of commitment by the offenders to change. Martin (1989) notes that short-term groups limit anxiety, but also the investment of participants and the resulting changes. Finally, the composition of the groups may have been a factor while random assignment was used to divide the offenders into groups. The groups were made up of offenders with varying numbers of convictions for break and enter, and who were different ages. The number of other types of offences in proportion to the number of break and enters, as well as how old an offender was at the time may have affected their responses to the pre- and post-tests.

#### **OBJECTIVES OF THE VICTIM-OFFENDER PROGRAM**

The success of the Victim-Offender program is measured according to the following objectives. Each objective is listed and discussed, with brief examples of how the objective was measured.

• Victims will express their views and feelings about being victimized by the offence of Break and Enter, and the offenders will express their views about committing such offences.

This objective was met. Victims and offenders expressed their views and feelings during these sessions in both program sequences. As noted in Chapter 5, not all victims and offenders spoke equally during the sessions, and the group had to be redirected from discussions of general topics to do with security systems and boasting of exploits. Maguire (1982) comments that victims in his survey were mistrustful of strangers and tried to recapture a lost sense of security. This was reflected in the feelings the victims brought up in both program sequences. When they stated that they found themselves going out less as a result of their victimization and were interested in how security systems might deter offenders.

• Victims will discuss their individual experiences of being victimized and how they have coped with these experiences.

This objective was met. Particularly in the victims only sessions, victims discussed their individual experiences, the ways they have coped with these experiences, and how the experiences have affected their lives. Victims responded to comments and stories from each other, and in this way stimulated further discussion. They found that there were commonalties such as number of times victimized and vehicles being stolen.

# • Offenders will verbalize a better understanding of the consequences of their actions in respect to victims.

This objective was met. Offenders responded to comments made by victims in ways that showed they heard what was being said. For example, offenders responded to one victim's concern about having her personal things gone through by trying to point out that "she shouldn't take it personally." They also expressed a better understanding of what losses can amount to when property is uninsured, and how the need for a security system can be an attempt to feel safe at home again.

# • Offenders will verbalize more responsibility and use fewer excuses for their actions.

This objective was not met. Measurement of responsibility and excuses was done using Ball's Neutralization Scale. As noted in the previous section, significant changes were found for the four week time frame in the the control group, which recorded no sessions.

• Victims and offenders will relate conceptions they have of each other, thus providing an opportunity to gain a better understanding of each other as individuals rather than as stereotyped labels.

This objective was met. In the victims only, offenders only, and joint sessions, participants discussed images they have of each other. For example, one offender stated that he did not think of victims as being old people. In a joint session, one victim shared his mis-conception of young offenders as Native with a group that included Native young offenders.

• Victims will identify and discuss with questions, concerns and feelings that they have about being victimized by offenders, and through this discussion, reduce

anxiety, enabling them to leave the event behind them and go on with their lives.

This objective was partially met. Victims did identify questions they had about the criminal justice system, particularly in the second program sequence. These questions had more to do with crime in general, such as what young offenders are like in terms of background and operations of the Young Offender Centre. Question #4 on the feedback questionnaire solicited views on whether victims felt the sessions enabled them to better deal with some of the feelings they had about being victimized. Five out of six victims agreed.

• The Edmonton Police Service will increase their involvement in the area of victim-offender contact.

This objective was partially met. With police involvement in the first program sequence the objective was met, however when the officer was unable to address the offenders in the group, it was not possible to find a replacement officer.

• The victim-offender program will add to the range of programming currently offered in the Edmonton Young Offender Centre.

This objective was met in the short term. No commitment was made either by the Young Offender Branch or the group leader to continue to run the program beyond the time frame of the action research project. Since the completion of these program sequences, no victim-offender programming has been offered at the Young Offender Centre.

#### **CHAPTER 7: IMPLICATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

This paper has described the design and implementation of a victim-offender program along with the research procedures used to test assumptions dealing with victims in Sykes and Matza's theory of delinquency, Techniques of Neutralization. The results of the two program sequences have been presented, along with the evaluation research findings. There are both theoretical and practical implications of the study findings. The theoretical implications relating to Sykes and Matza's Techniques of Neutralization will first be discussed, followed by the practical implications relating to the operation of victim-offender programs.

#### THEORETICAL IMPLICATIONS

As outlined in Chapter 2, Sykes and Matza identify denial of the victim as one of five techniques of neutralization that delinquents use to justify law violations. This technique deals with the failure of offenders to admit that their actions caused injury or hurt, and suggests that "the potentiality for victimization would seem to be a function of social distance between the delinquent and others" (Sykes & Matza, p. 221). The victim-offender program was an attempt to target this technique by confronting offenders with victims, and lessen the "social distance." Success was measured by the level of excuses or justifications for law violations as itemized on Ball's Neutralization Scale.

There was a significant difference in the scores between experimental and control groups after participation in the program, however, it was in the opposite direction from that which was hypothesized. Possible reasons have been offered in Chapter 6 to account for these findings. Although the analysis of co-variance suggests results that are opposite to those that were anticipated, the number of offenders in the sample was very

small. Further studies involving larger samples and allowing for more program sequences over a longer period of time might yield different results.

The size of the sample also limits the generalization of the findings, and while there was random assignment, there was not random selection. In addition, the composition of the groups underscores the complexity of the question: why offenders commit crimes, and what programs will work under what circumstances. In further studies, consideration of individual characteristics of offenders such as age, educational levels, family background and involvement in other types of crimes is strongly recommended.

It is also possible that once offenders have committed a number of break and enters, they are less likely to be affected by meeting victims than first time offenders. The setting of the study, as noted previously, not only limited the offenders available for selection, but limits generalizing the findings of the study to any other setting other than Edmonton and Calgary Young Offender Centres. Despite these limitations, the study does serve a purpose as more indepth evaluation of a victim offender program of the same type as existing programs. This is a starting point for further study in the area of victim-offender programs.

## PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS

Review of literature on victim-offender programs and interviews with persons involved in victim-offender programming was extremely useful not only in the design and evaluation of the sessions, but in predicting how victims and offenders would respond to the material presented and to each other.

The content of the sessions and areas which victims found useful were based on the above information. Given the responses to the feedback questionnaires and comments made in the sessions, future sessions would include topics such as the Edmonton Young Offender Centre, the Youth Justice System, and time for victims and offenders to share their experiences.

Although the Edmonton Police Service was supportive of the program in terms of providing information (and having an officer come once), they were not prepared to offer a time commitment for staff for ongoing presentations. In future the presentation on victim services could be done by the group leader (as in program sequence #2) or by a volunteer with the Victim Services Unit. The most desirable situation however, would be for the Victim Services Co-ordinator to speak as in program sequence #1.

Similarly, the Young Offender Branch, Correctional Services, provided the facility for the groups for the duration of the research project, but were not prepared to commit any staff to continuation of the program. In addition to the time involved in actually running the groups, a considerable amount of time was spent compiling lists of eligible victims, sending letters and making follow-up phone calls. Some or all of these tasks could be completed by volunteers with the Edmonton Police Service or the Young Offender Centre. Decreasing the frequency of the program sequences from one every eight weeks to one every three months would decrease the number of staff hours needed to run the groups. Whether there are staff who have the necessary qualifications to run the groups is not known.

In Chapter 6 it was noted that the lack of change in justifications of delinquent acts may be due to the lack of commitment by the offenders to change. To address this, the content of future groups could be more focused, dealing directly with themes of individual responsibility for ones actions, and the inappropriateness of excuses. Again however, whether or not there would be qualified staff to run this type of group is not known.

## RECOMMENDATIONS

On the basis of the information generated by this study, three recommendations are offered. The first relates to implications for further research and the others with practice.

#### **Ball's Neutralization Scale**

Victim-offender programs that were reviewed as background to this study used strictly feedback questionnaires to evaluate the benefits of the programs. It is recommended that future groups continue to use the Neutralization Scale in a pre- and post-test form, even though the results of the study were inconclusive on this outcome measure. A link between meeting victims and decrease in justifications and excuses for delinquent behaviour may yet be found by increasing the number of victim and offender joint sessions. The scale could also be used with groups that have a different content such as the anger management group to evaluate program effectiveness.

# **Future Victim-Offender Groups**

Feedback from victims and offenders did indicate that the program was helpful to participants. This type of program should continue in its present form with the addition of more joint sessions.

## **Use of Volunteers**

Given the restrictions in terms of staff from the Edmonton Police Service and the Young Offender Branch every attempt should be made to continue the program utilizing volunteers from both organizations.

#### REFERENCES

Agnew, R. (1990). The origins of delinquent events: An examination of offender accounts. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 27(3), 267-294.

Alberta Solicitor General. (1989). Orientation to the Edmonton Young Offender Center.

- Alberta Solicitor General. (1990). Correctional Services Division, Young Offender Branch: Missions and programs.
- Alberta Solicitor General. (1990). The Victim Offender Program at the Calgary Young Offender Centre. (Mimeographed material).
- Arnold, W. R. (1974). Group methods in correctional treatment. In R. Roberts (Ed.), *Correctional treatment of the offender*, (pp. 176-194). Springfield: Charles C. Thomas.
- Ball, R. A. (1966). An empirical exploration of neutralization theory. *Criminologia*, 4(2), 22-32.
- Ball, R. A. (1973). Ball's neutralization scale. In W. C. Reckless (Ed.), American criminology: New directions (pp. 26-36). New York: Appleton-Century Crofts.
- Bartollas, C. (1990). *Juvenile delinquency*, (2nd ed.). New York: MacMillian Publishing Co.
- Bartollas, C., & Miller, S. J. (1978). The juvenile offender: Control, correction and treatment. Boston: Holbrook Press.
- Campbell, D., & Stanley, J. (1963). Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research. Chicago: RandMcNallay.
- Christie, N. (1978). Conflicts as property. In B. Galaway & J. Hudson (Eds.), Perspectives on crime victims (pp. 234-244). St. Louis: C. V. Mosby.
- Cleland-Moyer, K. (Ed.). (1990). Face to face in Canada. Kitchener, ON: The Network: Interaction for Conflict Resolution.
- Davis, G. (1991). Resparation in the U.K.: Dominant themes and neglected themes. Paper presented at the 7th Annual Victimology institute, Oristi, Spain.
- Devon Probation Service, UK. (1991). Victim burglar group practitioners manual. (Mimeographed material).
- Finkenauer, J. O. (1984). Juvenile delinquency and corrections. Orlando: Academic Press.
- Gibbons, M. D. (1991). *Delinquent behavior* (4th. ed.). Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall.
- Grinnell, R. N. (1988). Social work research and evaluation (3rd ed.). Itasca: F.E. Peacock.
- Howell, S. (1992, March). *The place of victims in corrections*. Paper presented at Justice: Extending the Vision: A national Conference on Victimization, Victoria, BC.

- Klarreich, S. H. (1989). Group training in problem solving skills and group counselling: A study comparing two treatment approaches with adolescent probationers. *Journal* of Offender Rehabilitation, 27(3), 1-8.
- Launay, G., & Murray, P. (1989). Victim offender groups. In M. Wright & B. Galaway (Eds.), *Mediation and criminal justice* (pp. 113-131). London: Sage Publications.
- Lurigio, A. J., & Resick, P. (1990). Healing the psychological wounds of criminal victimization: Predicting postcrime distress and recovery. In A. J. Lurigio, W. G. Skogan, & R. C. Davis (Eds.), Victims of crime: Problems, policies, and programs (pp. 50-68). Newbury Park: Sage Publications.
- Maguire, M. (1982). Burglary in a dwelling: The offender, the offense, and the victim. London: Heinemann.
- Marshall, T. F. (1990). Results of research from British experiments in restorative justice. In B. Galaway & J. Hudson (Eds.), *Criminal justice, restitution, and* reconciliation. Monsey, NY: Willow Tree Press.
- Martin, J. V. (1989). Timing for group therapy in the criminal justice system. Journal of Offender Counseling Services and Rehabilitation, 14(1).
- Mawby, R., & Gill, A. (1987). Crime victims: Needs, services and the voluntary sector. London: Tavistock.
- Messmer, H. (1989). Tackling the conflict: A framework analysis of dispute settlement. In J. Hudson & B. Galaway (Eds.), *The state as parent* (pp. 187-193). New York: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Miller, W. (1958). Lower class culture as a generative milieu of gang delinguency. Journal of Social Issues, 14(3), 5 - 19.
- Minor, K. I., & Elrod, H. P. (1990). The effects of a multi-faceted intervention on the offence activities of juvenile probationers. *Journal of Offender Counselling, Services and Rehabilitation*, 15(2), 87-105.
- Minor, W. W. (1981, July). Techniques of neutralization: A reconceptualization and empirical examination. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 295-319.
- Northen, H. (1988). Social work with groups. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Norusis, M. J. (1988). SPSS/PC+ Studentware. Chicago: SPSS, Inc.
- Pate, K. (1992, March). An overview of victim offender programs. Paper presented at Justice: Extending the Vision: A National Conference of Victimization, Victoria, BC.
- Peachey, D. (1992, March). An overview of victim offender programs. Paper presented at Justice: Extending the Vision: A National Conference of Victimization, Victoria, BC.
- Peachey, D. (1989). The Kitchener experiment. In M. Wright & B. Galaway (Eds.), Mediation & criminal justice (pp. 14-16). London: Sage Publications.
- Priestly, P. (Ed.). (1979). What about the victim? National Association for the Care & Resettlement of Offenders. Regional Information Paper, England.

- Shoemaker, D. J. (1990). Theories of delinquency: An examination of explanations of delinquent Behaviour. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sykes, G., & Matza, D. (1957). Techniques of neutralization: A theory of delinquency. American Sociological Review, 22(4), 219-226.
- Trojanowicz, R. C., & Morash, M. (1987). Juvenile delinquency: Concepts and control, (4th ed.). Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.
- Trotzer, J. P. (1989). The process of group counselling. In P.C. Kratcoski (Ed.), *Correctional counselling and treatment* (pp. 227-303). Prospect Heights: Waveland Press.
- Umbreit, M. S. (1985). Crime and reconcilation: Creative options for victims and offenders. Nashville: Abingdon Press.
- Umbreit, M. S. (1988). Mediation of the victim offender conflict. Journal of Dispute Resolution, 31, 1-20.
- Umbreit, M. S. (1989). Crime victims seeking fairness, not revenge: Toward restorative justice. *Federal Probation*, 53(3), 52-57.
- Umbreit, M.S. (1990). Victim offender mediation with violent offenders: Implications for the VORP model. In E. Viano (Ed.), *The victimology handbook* (pp. 337-351). New York: Garland Publishing.
- Umbreit, M.S. (1991). Having offenders meet with their victims offers benefits for both parties. *Corrections Today*, 53(4), 164-166.
- Van Ness, D. W. (1990). Restoring the balance: Tipping the scales of justice. *Corrections Today*, 52(1), 62, 64-66.
- Veevers, J. (1989). Pre-court diversion for juvenile offenders. In M. Wright & B. Galaway (Eds.), *Mediation and Criminal Justice* (pp. 69-81). London: Sage Publications.
- Walklate, S. (1989). The victim and the criminal justice process. London: Unwin Hyman.
- Watson, D., Boucherat, J., & Davis, G. (1989). Reparation for retributivists. In M. Wright & B. Galaway (Eds.), *Mediation and criminal justice* (pp. 212-228). London: Sage Publications.
- Weinbach, R. W., & Grinnell, R. M., Jr. (1987). Statistics for social workers. White Plains, NY: Longman Inc.
- Wright, M. (1991). Justice for victims and offenders. Philadelphia: Open University Press.
- Zehr, H. (1983). VORP: An overview of the process. Elkhart, IN: PACT Institute of Justice & Mennonite Central Committee Office of Criminal Justice.

## APPENDICES

- **APPENDIX 1 List of Persons Interviewed**
- **APPENDIX 2 Letter to Victims**
- **APPENDIX 3 Feedback Questionnaire Victims**
- **APPENDIX 4 Feedback Questionnaires Offenders**

APPENDIX 5 - Balls Neutralization Scale (Pre- and Post-test)

**APPENDIX 6 - Consent Form - Victims** 

**APPENDIX 7 - Consent Form/Program Description - Offenders** 

## **APPENDIX 1 - Persons Interviewed**

Kim Pate, Executive Director, Canadian Association of Elizabeth Fry Society. Personal Communication, March 3, 1992.

Kathay Gibson, Co-ordinator, Kelowna Mediation Services, B.C. Personal Communication, March 3, 1992.

**Dave Gustafson**, Executive Director, Community Justice Initiatives, B.C Ministry of Attorney General. Personal Communication, March 3, 1992.

Constable Bob Cook, Victim Services Unit, Calgary Police Service. Personal Communication, August 12, 1991.

Keith Brooks, Research Assistant, Calgary Police Service. Personal Communication, August 12, 1991.

Janine Miani, Caseworker, Calgary Young Offender Center. Personal Communication, June 5, 1991.

Wayne Reddon, Director, Edmonton Young Offender Center. Personal Communication, June 5, 1991.

Staff Sargent Hugh Richards, Youth Unit, Edmonton Police Service. Personal Communication, October 14, 1991.

Staff Sargent Peter Zaharko, Youth Unit, Edmonton Police Service. Personal Communication, February 26, 1992.

Constable Leray Whitback, Co-ordinator, Victim Services Unit, Edmonton Police Service. Personal Communication, February 26, 1992.

Gerry Wright, Deputy Director, Programs, Edmonton Young Offender Centre. Personal Communication, January 12, 1992.

**Dr. Patrick Thauberger**, Co-ordinator, Treatment Services, Correctional Services Division Alberta Justice. Personal Communication, March 26, 1992.

Dear

My name is Sandy Prokopiw, and I am a graduate student in the Faculty of Social Work at the University of Calgary. I am writing to request your help with a graduate thesis on the topic of victim offender groups. Your name and address were obtained from the Edmonton Police Service, who are assisting me in my research.

The program involves persons who have experienced residential Break and Enter meeting with other person who have had the same experience to share their thoughts and feelings and receive information about the Youth Justice System. This victim-offender program also offers victims the opportunity to meet as a group with young offenders who have committed Break and Enter offences and are housed at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre.

A significant number of residential Break-ins remain unsolved, or do not go to trial. Victims in these situations do not have the opportunity to find out about the offender, and often have no opportunity to discuss their concerns. The victim offender program provides this opportunity.

The program will involve a series of two consecutive Mondays, and the next Wednesday, with the first session on September 28, the second on October 5, and the third on October 14, from 7:00 to 9:30 p.m. The meetings will take place at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre. I will be available to assist with transportation, if needed. There will be 4 to 8 victims in the first and second sessions, and the same number of victims as well as 4 to 8 offenders in the second session. I will serve as group leader and moderator for the discussion. The agenda is as follows:

Session #1 - group of 4 - 8 victims -introduction of group leader and partic.pants and the agenda for session #1 (approx. 15 min.) -presentation on the Young Offenders At (approx. 45 min.) -questions and discussion (approx. 15 mil.) -break (approx 10 min.) -orientation to the Edmonton Young Offender Centre (approx. 1/2 hour) -questions and discussion (approx. 10 mi.) -wrap-up and reminder of date/time/plce of next meeting (approx. 10 min.)

<u>Session #2 - group of 4 - 8 victims</u> -introduction of the agenda for Session#2 (approx. 10 min.) -discussion within the group about the experiences of each participant around their own Break and nter such as damage, items stolen, subsequent difficulties, ec. (approx. 1 hour) -break (approx 10 min.) -preparation to meet the offenders through discussion of what each victim would like to tell/ask offenders (approx 1/2 hour) -role plays in which one victim plays the victim, and enother the offender in order to try out ways of expressing their feelings to offenders (approx 1/2 hour) -summary of the discussion and reminder of the date/time/place of the next meeting (approx.. 15 min.) 13 -Session victims and offenders - 4 - 8 of each -introduction of participants and the agenda for Session #3 (approx. 15 min.) -victims and offenders will talk about their own experiences, one victim, one offender, alternating, until all participants have had a chance to speak (approx. 1 hour) -break (approx 10 min.)

-victims and offenders will address individual participants with questions and responses to what has been said (approx. 1 hour)

-completion of questionnaires (approx. 15 min.)

Confidentiality will be observed so that neither victims or offenders will use last names, and responses to guestionnaires will be anonymous. The results of the guestionnaires, as well as the results of the program will be made available once the research is completed if you are interested.

If you do not want to participate in the program, please fill in the bottom part of this letter, and place it in the envelope provided. You will not be contacted again. If you would like to participate in the program or would like more information, disregard the bottom part of the letter. If I do not hear from you by September 21, I will be contacting you by telephone to arrange a personal interview.

Thank-you for your time.

Sandy Prokopiw, B.A., B.S.W. Probation Officer Correctional Services, Young Offennder Branch

[ do not wish to participate in the victim offender program.

#### QUESTIONNAIRE FOR VICTIM PARTICIPANTS

Please circle the number which most accurately describes how you feel about the statement.

Part I

1. My experience with the group sessions was helpful.

Strongly agree Agree Undecided Disagree Strongly disagree

2. The sessions challenged impressions and stereotypes I held about offenders in general.

Strongly agree Agree Undecided Disagree Strongly disagree 1 2 3 4 5

3. The sessions have given me a batter understanding about offenders and their motivation for committing offences.

Strongly agree Agree Undecided Disagree Strongly disagree

4. Information obtained as a result of the program enabled me to better deal with some of the feelings I had about being victimized.

Strongly agree Agree Undecided Disagree Strongly disagree 1 2 3 4 5

5. I found the general information provided on young offenders and the criminal justice system helpful.

Strongly agree Agree Undecided Disagree Strongly disagree

6. I found it helpful to talk about the experience of having had my home broken into with victims of a similar offence.

Strongly agree Agree Undecided Disagree Strongly disagree 1 2 3 4 5

7. I found that during the meeting, the offenders were honest.

Strongly agree Agree Undecided Disagree Strongly disagree 1 2 3 4 5

8. I am glad to have had the opportunity to confront the offenders with the results of their actions.

# **APPENDIX 4 - Feedback Questionnaire - Offenders**

## QUESTIONNAIRE FOR OFFENDER PARTICIPANTS

Please circle the response which most accurately describes how you feel about the statement.

Part I

1.	My experience with the program was helpful.								
Strongly agree		Agree Undecided		Disagree	Strongly Disagree				
	1	2	3	4	5				
2. The sessions challenged impressions I had about victims in general.									
Stro	ongly agree	Agree	Undecided	Disagree	Strongly Disagree				
	1	2	3	4	5				
3.	3. The sessions provided me with a better understanding about victims and how they experience crime.								
Stro	ongly agree	Agree	Undecided	Disagree	Strongly Disagree				
	1	2	3	4	5				
4. Participation in the program has made me want to change my lifestyle upon release.									
Stro	ongly agree	Agree	Undecided	Disagree	Strongly Disagree				
	1	2	3	4	5				

In order to provide me with general feedback to be used in improving the program, please answer the following questions as completely as you can.

Part II

- 5. Which if any, of your opinions were changed or remained the same as a result of the program?
- 6. How would you describe the overall experience?
- 7. How would you recommend that the program be improved?

8. Other comments, suggestions and/or concerns

## **APPENDIX 5 - Ball's Neutralization Scale (Pre- and Post-test)**

## THE WAY A GUY LOOKS AT THINGS

Adults make a lot of statements about guys that get into trouble and guys that stay out of trouble, but we think it is best to let guys speak for themselves. We want to find out how you look at things. We don't want your name, just how you look at things.

A sixteen-year-old boy, named Jack, gets into trouble. Read each situation carefully and see how you feel about the various excuses given. If you strongly agree with the statement, circle SA (Strongly Agree). If you agree with the statement, circle A (Agree). Circle U (Undecided) if you are undecided. If you disagree with the statement, circle D (Disagree). Circle SD (Strongly Disagree) if you strongly disagree with the statement.

#### **REMEMBER!** This is not a test.

There are no right or wrong answers. The right answer for you is how you feel about the various excuses. Try to answer for one excuse at a time without thinking about any of the others.

#### SITUATION #1

Jack gets a club and goes with his friends to look for another group of boys. They find them in a park, and a fight starts. During the fight Jack hits another boy with the club, and almost kills him.

SA	Α	UI	)	SD	1.	People should not blame Jack this time $\underline{if}$ he was trying to protect himself.
SA	Α	UI	)	SD	2.	People should not blame Jack this time <u>if</u> the other boys were trying to take over his part of town.
SA	Α	UI	)	SD	3.	People should not blame Jack this time $\underline{if}$ he just "went crazy" with anger for a second.
SA	Α	UI	)	SD	4.	People should not blame Jack this time if he had been drinking.
SA	Α	UI	)	SD	5.	People should not blame Jack this time $\underline{if}$ he was swinging the club just to scare the boy.
SA	Α	UI	)	SD	6.	People should not blame Jack this time if all the boys were using clubs.
SA	Α	UI	)	SD	7.	People should not blame Jack this time if the other boy had been trying to hit him.
SA	Α	UI	2	SD	8.	People should not blame Jack this time if the boy was an outsider who came to cause trouble.
SA	A	υI	)	SD	9.	People should not blame Jack this time if the other boy had once made him look like a coward.

SA A U D SD 10. People should not blame Jack this time if the other boy was beating one of Jack's friends. SITUATION #2

While loafing around in a store, Jack takes some things without paying for them.

SA A U D SD 11. People should not blame Jack if this was the normal thing to do where Jack lived. SA A U D SD 12. People should not blame Jack if the owner had fired his father without any reason. 13. People should not blame Jack if the store has more of the things than SA A U D SD it can ever sell. SAAUD SD 14. People should not blame Jack if the owner is rich and won't miss it. SA A U D SD 15. People should not blame Jack if the things were old and could not be sold anyway. SAAUD SD 16. People should not blame Jack if everybody knows the owner sells things that are against the law. SA A U D SD 17. People should not blame Jack if the owner himself had stolen a lot of money and left town. 18. People should not blame Jack if he was getting even with the owner SA A U D SD for cheating him. SA A U D SD 19. People should not blame Jack if everyone knows that the owner is very crooked. 20. People should not blame Jack if the owner cheats poor people out of SA A U D SD everything. SITUATION #3

Jack stops a man on a dark street one night when nobody else is around. He pulls knife and makes the man hand over his money.

- SA A U D SD 21. People should not blame Jack if the man had stolen money from Jack.
- SA A U D SD 22. People should not blame Jack if the man is a big crook himself.
- SA A U D SD 23. People should not blame Jack if the man had dared anybody to try to rob him.
- SA A U D SD 24. People should not blame Jack if the man had got his money by cheating the poor people.
- SA A U D SD 25. People should not blame Jack if he had to prove to his friends he could do it.

SA A U D SD	26. People should not blame Jack if all the boys had promised to try it.
SAAUD SD	27. People should not blame Jack if someone said he was too afraid to try it.
SAAUD SD	28. People should not blame Jack if he did it to prove his courage to everybody.
SA A U D SD	29. People should not blame Jack if his mother needed some money bad.
SA A U D SD	30. People should not blame Jack if he was doing it just to help a friend.
SITUATION #4	
	his gang. All the boys carry knives and guns. They attack another gang, y. The boy is badly hurt, but he lives.
SAAUD SD	31. People should not blame Jack if the other gang had been getting ready to attack.
SA A U D SD	32. People should not blame Jack if the other gang had asked for the fight.
SAAUD SD	33. People should not blame Jack if the other boy jumped him.
SA A U D SD	34. People should not blame Jack if the other boy said he would kill him.
SAAUD SD	35. People should not blame Jack if the other boy was trying to shoot him.
SAAUD SD	36. People should not blame Jack if the other boy came at him with a knife.
SA A U D SD	37. People should not blame Jack if the other boy was always looking for trouble.

.

- 38. People should not blame Jack if he was only trying to prove he was a SA A U D SD man.
- 39. People should not blame Jack if he had to go along to show he was a real friend. SA A U D SD
- SA A U D SD 40. People should not blame Jack if it was either fight or leave his friends alone. .

## **APPENDIX 6 - Consent Form - Victims**

## CONSENT FORM FOR VICTIM PARTICIPANTS

"I have recieved a letter which describes the victim offender program, and I have discussed the program with Sandy Prokopiw, Masters of Social Work student. I understand what the victim offender program at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre involves.

I agree to participate in the victim offender program on

\_\_\_\_\_ and \_\_\_\_\_\_

•

•

from 7:00 to 9:30 p.m.

.

## **APPENDIX 7 - Consent Form/Program Description - Offenders**

Your assistance is requested to participate in a pilot program at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre. The program is part of research being done for a graduate thesis on the topic of victim offender groups.

The program involves persons who have experienced a Break and Enter in their homes meeting with other persons who have the same experience to share their thoughts and feelings and receive information about the Youth Justice System. Victims will also be given the opportunity to meet with young offenders such as yourself, who have committed Break and Enters and are housed in the Edmonton Young Offender Centre.

Young offenders who participate in the program will receive information about how victims feel about what has happened to them from two sources: A presentation from a representative of the Victim Services Unit of the Edmonton Police Service, and from victims themselves. Young offenders will also have the opportunity to discuss how they feel about their offences in a group session with only other young offenders present, and prepare questions to ask victims or anything else they might want to say to the victims.

The program will involve a series of meetings	s, one per week,	for three week	s, commencing
on	from about 7:0	0 - 9:30 p.m.	The agenda for
these meetings is as follows:		-	•

#### Session #1

- introduction of group leader, resource person, and participants as well as agenda for the session
- presentation on the impact of residential Break and Enter on victims from the perspective of a Victim's Assistance Program representative, Edmonton Police Service
- questions and discussion
- wrap-up and reminder of date/time/place of next meeting

#### Session #2

- introduction of the agenda for the session
- discussion within the group about their own records
- preparation to meet the victims through discussion of what each offender would like to tell/ask victims
- role plays where one offender plays the offender, and another the victim in order to try out ways of expressing their feelings to victims
- summary of the discussion and reminder of the next meeting

#### Session #3 - victims and offenders

- introduction of participants and the agenda for the session
- victims and offenders will talk about their own experiences, one victim, one offender, alternating, until all participants have had a chance to speak
- break

- victims and offenders will address individual participants with questions and responses to what has been said
- completion of questionnaires

If you agree to participate in the program, you will be given a questionnaire to complete. After this is done, your name will be put on a list of other persons who have also agreed to participate. From that list, half will be chosen to participate. You have a 50/50 chance of being selected. If selected, you will go on to participate in the sessions, if not, you will be asked to complete another questionnaire in about a months time. The purpose of the questionnaire is to find out your attitude towards offences, and if that changes after one month. If you complete the program, you will be given a third questionnaire. The purpose of this questionnaire is to find out how you liked the program and what you would like to see improved.

Participation in this program is strictly voluntary. There are no incentives with regard to levels, or early release. The program will provide an opportunity to find out what victims feel about their experiences, and for you to tell them anything you might want to.

Confidentiality will be observed in that neither yourself, or the victims will use last names. Responses to questionnaires will be kept confidential and anonymous. The results of the questionnaires will be used in a general way for a Master's Thesis. A summary will be made available to you once the research is completed if you are interested.

If you have any questions about the program, you can ask the group leader at any time. Also, if something was discussed in group which made you feel uncomfortable or upset, you can call the group leader and discuss it one-to-one.

The above program description has been explained to me by Sandy Prokopiw, Masters of Social Work student, and I understand what the victim offender program at the Edmonton Young Offender Centre involves.

I agree to complete the questionnaire.

Offender

University of Calgary, Thesis Advisor: Joe Hudson 492-0405